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          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Good afternoon,

          3  everyone.  Welcome to the City Council of the City

          4  of New York.  This is the Committee on Sanitation

          5  and Solid Waste Management.  I am truly impressed by

          6  the dedication of everyone in this room to the

          7  issues that we're going to speak about today,

          8  especially since next door is the hearing on the

          9  Jets, which sounds like quite an event over there.

         10  So I appreciate you being here.  That's especially

         11  true of my two colleagues.  To my left, from Staten

         12  Island, Councilman Andrew Lanza, and to his left, a

         13  gentleman who I'll introduce in a moment, and

         14  certainly on the first resolution we consider today,

         15  someone who's known to you all.

         16                 As I said, this is a hearing on the

         17  Sanitation and Solid Waste Management Committee on

         18  Resolution No. 144 that urges the State Legislature

         19  to pass legislation expanding the current bottle

         20  bill to include most uncarbonated beverages and to

         21  require all unclaimed deposits to revert to the

         22  local municipalities for the funding of recycling

         23  and waste prevention programs.  And Resolution 174,

         24  that calls for the City of New York to adopt a zero

         25  waste policy.
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          2                 Now, as I said, we are pleased and

          3  honored to have with us this afternoon Council

          4  member and former Assembly member and former State

          5  Attorney General G. Oliver Koppell.  During his

          6  tenure in the State Assembly, Council Member Koppell

          7  introduced and fought for the passage of New York's

          8  original bottle bill.  His efforts were rewarded

          9  with the passage of the bill in 1982.  He is the

         10  prime sponsor of Reso. 144 and known appropriately

         11  throughout the State as the "father of the bottle

         12  bill".  As we were walking in, he reminded me that

         13  he began working on this issue in 1972. Most of us

         14  weren't even born then.  But we are certainly

         15  impressed by his commitment to this issue.  And also

         16  a member of the Committee from the Bronx, Jose

         17  Serrano, is with us as well.  Good afternoon, Jose.

         18                 Over 20 years have passed since the

         19  implementation of the bottle bill and it has, among

         20  other positive results, eliminated large amounts of

         21  bottle and can litter from our parks and highways,

         22  reduced the amount of solid waste into our landfills

         23  and promoted massive amounts of recycling by our

         24  citizens.  In the last 20 years, beverages such as

         25  water, ice tea, sports drinks and juice sold in
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          2  recyclable containers, but not covered under the

          3  bottle bill, have -- I'm sorry -- increased in

          4  popularity. The bills covered by our resolution No.

          5  144 would include these new beverage containers in

          6  the new deposit law.  In addition, the bill provides

          7  for unclaimed deposits now retained by the

          8  distributors to be returned to the State and

          9  allocated to the municipalities for recycling and

         10  waste prevention programs.  The bill also allows

         11  supermarkets to limit the number of containers they

         12  must accept if certain conditions are met.

         13                 There are opponents to the expansion

         14  of the bottle bill.  Opponents range from those that

         15  feel the bottle bill has served its purpose and with

         16  mandatory curbside recycling is no longer needed to

         17  the smallest supermarkets that don't have room to

         18  deal with the large volume of returns.

         19                 A revised version of both the

         20  Assembly and Senate bottle bills was introduced last

         21  Thursday in Albany. The revised version includes

         22  specific changes meant to address some concerns.

         23  The new bill provides, among other things, that the

         24  handling fee to redeemers will increase from two

         25  cents to three or three and a half cents per
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          2  container.  Economic development grants and

          3  unclaimed deposit funds can be used to fund

          4  redemption centers and steep fines can be imposed to

          5  persons who redeem out- of state containers.  We

          6  have not had time to fully analyze these provisions,

          7  I must say on the Committee and certainly as I have

          8  said in the past that the concerns of the small

          9  store owners, the bodega owners, the grocery stores,

         10  is a major concern especially in a place like the

         11  City of New York where there is not that much room.

         12  And so we are hoping that as we have called for in

         13  the past that this new version addresses those

         14  concerns more significantly.

         15                 The other resolution that we're

         16  considering today is Reso. 174 introduced by Council

         17  Member Jose Serrano.  Hopefully someday we will be

         18  calling him the father of the zero waste policy in

         19  New York.  This calls upon the City to adopt a zero

         20  waste policy.  Zero waste's philosophy is a

         21  philosophy and a set of principles that promote ways

         22  of dealing with waste that goes beyond recycling and

         23  minimizes waste, reduces consumption and ensures

         24  that products are reused, repaired or recycled and

         25  they get back into nature or back into the
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          2  marketplace.

          3                 So as is the custom, the Department

          4  of Sanitation is here to monitor this hearing.  They

          5  do not testify on resolutions.  And so, I would like

          6  to call as our first witness Elizabeth Franklin from

          7  the New York City Independent Budget Office who can

          8  certainly help us understand the fiscal impacts of

          9  the proposals that are being discussed here.

         10                 Is Mr. Niblack still afraid to come

         11  to us or -- I understand he's not feeling well.

         12                 MS. FRANKLIN:  Mr. Niblack was

         13  planning on testifying today, but he's not feeling

         14  well.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Okay.  Please

         16  tell him we hope he's feels better.

         17                 MS. FRANKLIN:  Okay.  And he

         18  apologizes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  And I'm sure he

         20  feels comfortable coming back.  Thank you.

         21                 MS. FRANKLIN:  Yes, he does.

         22                 Good afternoon, Chairman McMahon and

         23  members of the Committee.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  If you could

         25  just move that microphone closer, closer, and make
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          2  sure that the light is out.

          3                 MS. FRANKLIN:  The light is out.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Is out.  And

          5  rise it up right -- good.  If you would introduce

          6  yourself for the record.  Thanks.

          7                 MS. FRANKLIN:  I am not Preston

          8  Niblack, Deputy Director of the Independent Budget

          9  Office.  I'm Elizabeth Franklin.  Thank you for

         10  inviting IBO to testify today on the proposed

         11  changes to New York State's bottle bill.  My

         12  testimony today will be brief and will specifically

         13  address the fiscal impact of the state legislation

         14  supported by Resolution 144.  This legislation would

         15  expand the current bottle bill to include more types

         16  of beverage containers, mandate that all

         17  unreturnable container deposits be collected and

         18  returned to municipalities to assist in recycling

         19  and waste reduction efforts and prohibit the

         20  disposal of recyclable materials at landfills and

         21  incinerators.

         22                 As you know, New York State's current

         23  bottle bill enacted, in 1983, covers beer and other

         24  malt beverages, carbonated soft drinks, mineral and

         25  soda water and wine coolers sold in glass, metal

                                                            10

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  and/or plastic containers of up to one gallon.

          3  Under the current deposit system, a minimum of five

          4  cents deposit is initiated by the first distributor,

          5  the so- called deposit initiator for each filled

          6  beverage container sold.  The distributor receives

          7  the five cents from the retailer who in turn passes

          8  along this charge to the consumer.  When a consumer

          9  brings a bottle in for redemption, the consumer

         10  receives the five cents back from the retailer and

         11  the retailer is reimbursed the five cents from the

         12  distributor for the empty container.  Therefore, if

         13  more containers covered by the bottle bill are sold

         14  and redeemed, the distributor is left with a

         15  positive balance of deposits.  Under the current

         16  bottle bill, the unredeemed deposits are not

         17  required to be returned to the State or municipality

         18  and are simply retained by the distributor.

         19                 The legislation being discussed here

         20  today would require each distributor to deposit an

         21  amount equal to the refund value received from the

         22  retailer into an interest- bearing account in trust

         23  for the State.  Payment of reimbursements of the

         24  refund value to the retailer are made from this

         25  account and the remaining balance in the account
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          2  would be credited quarterly to the solid waste

          3  account within the State's Environmental Protection

          4  Fund.  Finally, the legislation calls for each

          5  administrative region to receive a share of the

          6  solid waste account in proportion to the amount of

          7  deposits paid within that region.

          8                 How much money might this mean for

          9  New York City?

         10                 Estimates of the current number of

         11  redeemable containers sold in New York State vary

         12  widely.  The State's Department of Environmental

         13  Conservation estimated in 2001 that 5.6 billion

         14  containers covered under current law were sold in

         15  New York State including approximately 2.3 billion

         16  sold in New York City.  At five cents for every

         17  container paid as a deposit, this amounts to 115.5

         18  million in deposits paid in New York City.  DEC

         19  further estimated that 1.4 billion containers were

         20  redeemed in New York City, a redemption rate of

         21  62.5%, which would leave a hypothetical $43 million

         22  in uncollected deposits.

         23                 The Container Recycling Institute, an

         24  industry think tank, estimates that 9.3 billion

         25  redeemable containers are sold in New York State and
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          2  that just over 40% of those, or 3.8 billion, are

          3  sold in the City.  Using DEC's 62.5% redemption

          4  rate, this would leave just under $76 million in

          5  unclaimed deposits.

          6                 Under the proposed legislation

          7  therefore, the City could receive somewhere between

          8  43 million and $76 million each year to be used for

          9  waste reduction and recycling projects or economic

         10  development projects within the City just based on

         11  the currently redeemable containers. Even the lowest

         12  end of this range would be more than enough to fund

         13  the incremental cost of the City's curbside

         14  recycling program.

         15                 The proposed state legislation would

         16  expand the current bottle bill to include all

         17  carbonated and non carbonated beverages, except milk

         18  or those alcoholic beverages not already included.

         19  This would require that a deposit be paid on bottled

         20  water, sports drinks, ice tea drinks and juices,

         21  among others.  Based on national sales figures,

         22  adjusted for regional preferences, CRI estimated

         23  that 2.5 billion such beverages are sold in New York

         24  State. Assuming that these beverages are consumed in

         25  New York City at roughly the same proportion to
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          2  statewide consumption as are currently redeemable

          3  beverages, would suggest that approximately one

          4  billion containers are sold in the City. Adding one

          5  billion redeemable containers to the previous two

          6  estimates of containers sold, and assuming the same

          7  redemption rates, raises the potential amount of

          8  uncollected deposits in the City by about $20

          9  million to between 63 million and 97 million total.

         10                 There would be an additional fiscal

         11  impact on the City of expanding the current bottle

         12  bill namely the reduction in waste that the

         13  Department of Sanitation currently handles.  The

         14  materials subject to the expansion are now included

         15  in the City's curbside recycling program, although a

         16  significant share of them are undoubtedly thrown out

         17  as trash.  Either way, the City pays private firms

         18  to take these containers and will, therefore,

         19  realize savings in disposing of fewer of them.  We

         20  estimate that based on current contract costs and

         21  depending on the capture rate, additional savings

         22  will be between 4.9 million and 7.1 million

         23  annually.

         24                 Again, thank you for the opportunity

         25  to testify today.  I would be happy to take any
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          2  questions you may have.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Thank you, Ms.

          4  Franklin.  I'm just -- the numbers that you

          5  presented, and thank you very much for that, because

          6  it really kind of gives us a good crystallized

          7  version, have they been verified or are they just

          8  numbers that you have from -- or where do you have

          9  the numbers from, I guess is the best way to ask the

         10  question?

         11                 MS. FRANKLIN:  We use the container

         12   -- we use the DEC numbers that were from 2001 from

         13  the DEC study and then we used numbers from the

         14  Container Recycling Institute based on what --

         15  testimony they gave in January in Albany and our

         16  tonnage figures we got from an SAIC study from a few

         17  years ago.  And they've not been outside -- they've

         18  not been independently verified.  It's just...

         19                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Does the, I

         20  mean the distributing industry, do they confirm that

         21  they retain this money, this 43 million to 76

         22  million?  Because they dispute that, right?

         23                 MS. FRANKLIN:  Yes, I believe they

         24  do.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Okay.  I mean,
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          2  my question -- I don't mean to put you on the spot

          3  but has that, is that a verified number?

          4                 MS. FRANKLIN:  The Independent Budget

          5  Office has not --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Verified that.

          7                 MS. FRANKLIN:  -- Verified these

          8  numbers for ourselves.  We've --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  I understand

         10  that you just kind of gathered the data --

         11                 MS. FRANKLIN:  We've gathered the

         12  data.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  -- And

         14  presented it very well.  Okay.  Thank you very much.

         15    Any questions from my colleagues?  Thank you, Ms.

         16  Franklin.

         17                 MS. FRANKLIN:  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Let me call the

         19  next panel.  Counsel reminds me that we have a lot

         20  of witnesses. I don't want to give everybody a time,

         21  bang, your two, or three or four minutes are up, but

         22  I would ask everyone to, if you have lengthy written

         23  testimony, to submit it and then try to give us the

         24  shortened version, if you would.  And thank you, Ms.

         25  Franklin.
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          2                 The next panel is Laura Haicht from

          3  NYPIRG, Virali Gokaldas from NRDC, Jenny Gitlitz

          4  from the Container Recycling Institute and Barbara

          5  Toborg from the American Littoral Society.  And as

          6  they get seated, I was remiss to ask my colleague

          7  and the sponsor of this resolution if he would like

          8  to say -- have some sort of opening statement you

          9  would like to make?  Pretty soon we'll have to say

         10  you're the grandfather of that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  It took ten

         12  years for me to pass the original bottle bill in

         13  Albany and we've been trying to amend the bill now

         14  for probably close to that amount of time to include

         15  the new containers.

         16                 I would like to say, Mr. Chairman,

         17  that we don't have control here over every aspect of

         18  the Albany legislation and we're somewhat restricted

         19  in what we can do because we want to support what

         20  the people who are introducing the amendment in

         21  Albany are doing.  On the other hand, there are some

         22  legitimate concerns that I'm sure will be expressed

         23  today and that have been expressed by others, and I

         24  personally am willing to work with you, Mr.

         25  Chairman, and anyone else to make suggestions as to
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          2  how what is now being considered in Albany might be

          3  amended to make it more palatable to those who are

          4  opposed, although I'm doubtful that we could

          5  convince them to be supportive.

          6                 We did make changes when we passed

          7  the original bottle bill.  Some of the people in the

          8  room may have been there.  We actually delayed

          9  implementation for a year while we made changes.

         10  Some of the advocates were unhappy with that but we

         11  ended up with a better law.  I might note, Mr.

         12  Chairman, that one thing I noticed in the amendment

         13  being considered in Albany is a reduction in the

         14  number of containers that retail stores have to

         15  accept.  I think now it's 200 and something, 220, I

         16  think, and that's been cut way down, I think, to, I

         17  don't remember the number, but down to 70 and that

         18  helps the small stores that could be overwhelmed.

         19                 I also might say, Mr. Chairman, that

         20  I anticipate that the industry will say well, you

         21  want to take the unclaimed nickels but you're not

         22  taking into account that we're now going to be

         23  giving three and a half cents for every container

         24  that we do take back.  And that is a cost that we

         25  have to bear.  And I think that they have a point

                                                            18

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  there.  And I've never been one to have said that

          3  the maintaining or the collection by the State or

          4  the municipality of the unclaimed nickels is

          5  necessarily a part of expanding the bottle bill.  I

          6  think the bottle bill ought to be expanded, number

          7  one, and separately or there ought to be

          8  consideration of whether some of the unclaimed

          9  nickels should be retained.

         10                 And in considering that, I think it's

         11  fair to the industry to say that the three and a

         12  half cents- it's now two cents, but the bill

         13  proposes increasing it to three and a half cents-

         14  that the three and a half cents should be taken into

         15  account.  I might also just add, parenthetically,

         16  that the three and a half cents is another nod to

         17  the retailer, because if the retailer gets three and

         18  a half cents instead of two cents, that helps the

         19  retailer to cover the cost.  So I think the

         20  retailers' concerns are to some extent covered here

         21  by reducing the number that they have to take back

         22  by increasing the fee that they get from two cents

         23  to three and a half cents and also providing for

         24  severe penalty if you try and recycle out of state

         25  containers.  So all of those are good for the
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          2  retailer.

          3                 The industry I think will have a

          4  major complaint in saying you're taking all of the

          5  redeemed nickels back, the unredeemed nickels back,

          6  but you're not taking into account that we have to

          7  pay three and a half cents.  One of the things that

          8  I personally would consider, obviously our

          9  colleagues in Albany are going to make up their own

         10  mind, I would consider some sort of split in the

         11  unredeemed nickels, that they could keep some of the

         12  unredeemed nickels but would have to share some of

         13  them with the municipalities.  That would be my

         14  recommendation.  And if the Chair feels and other

         15  members of the Council feel that the Albany

         16  legislation could be better with certain amendments,

         17  I certainly would be happy to do the resolution,

         18  even amend the resolution or supplement the

         19  resolution with other recommendations.

         20                 So as we listen to complaints here, I

         21  don't want people to say oh, they're just -- they're

         22  not concerned about our concerns.  We are concerned.

         23    I've always been concerned about industry's

         24  concerns, which doesn't mean that I'm not in favor

         25  of the bill.  I happen to think the bill is good for
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          2  industry and it's been good for industry for 20

          3  years.  And I'm very proud of the fact that now over

          4  a hundred billion, with a B- by the way, your memo

          5  has a mistake in it, it has an M where it ought to

          6  be a B in one place- over a hundred billion, with a

          7  B, containers have been redeemed.  I think that I

          8  once said that it would, if you put them end to end,

          9  it would reach from the earth to the moon and back.

         10  And someone corrected me at that time, and that was

         11  about ten years ago, and said, no, it'd go from the

         12  moon and back seven times.  Well, I think now it

         13  would go from the earth maybe to Venus and back.  So

         14  I'm very proud of that.

         15                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Maybe President

         17  Bush could use that to get somebody to Mars, right,

         18  instead of -- okay.  Thank you very much.  We

         19  welcome you all back to the City Council and would

         20  ask you to begin.  If you want to begin, Ms. Haicht.

         21  Ms. Haicht.

         22                 MS. HAICHT:  Laura Haicht.  I'm a

         23  Senior Environmental Associate with the New York

         24  Public Interest Research Group.  First, I want to

         25  thank Councilman McMahon for holding this hearing.
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          2  It's the second hearing that's been held on this

          3  resolution.  The first one, I believe, was in

          4  October 2002.  I'm here to speak in support of both

          5  the Resolution No. 144 and 174.

          6                 Thank you so much, Councilman

          7  Koppell, for your leadership on this, for getting

          8  the law passed, because it's an example of

          9  successful public policy.  This is -- the bottle

         10  bill did everything it was meant to do and more, and

         11  it's great when things come out of Albany that way

         12  and we're glad to have you here with these

         13  resolutions supporting, updating and improving the

         14  bottle law.

         15                 Since October 2002, there have been a

         16  lot of new developments.  The list of supporters is

         17  now over 350 strong.  A lot of local governments

         18  have passed resolutions like this in support of the

         19  expansion.  Dozens of editorials across the State

         20  have been written in support including the New York

         21  Times and Newsday.  The joint task force of the

         22  Mayor and City Council of the City of New York that

         23  was established pursuant to Local Law -- when the

         24  recycling program was suspended, this was one of the

         25  things they were supposed to look at, which was
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          2  should the bottle bill be expanded and should the

          3  unclaimed deposits be taken back. And the joint task

          4  force said yes.  That was in March 2003.

          5                 In the Assembly, the bill now has 56

          6  sponsors and in the Senate there are five sponsors.

          7  And we have public opinion polls now that show that

          8  70% of New Yorkers support the expansion and 86%

          9  support the S sheet which is the taking back of the

         10  unclaimed deposits.  Only 19% knew who keeps the

         11  unclaimed deposits.  Most people don't know that the

         12  beer and soda companies keep that money.  But

         13  there's a very strong feeling that that is the

         14  public's money and that's been sort of verified in

         15  the courts and in other states where they have

         16  adopted as sheet provisions that it's abandoned

         17  public property and it should revert back to the

         18  State to fund programs that benefit the public.

         19                 The bill itself has changed quite a

         20  bit. Just to go through that very briefly, in March

         21  2003 Assemblyman DiNapoli who sponsors the

         22  legislation held two hearings both in Albany and in

         23  New York City and, as a result of hearing from all

         24  the interested parties, made significant amendments

         25  last June.  These included lowering the cap on
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          2  bottle and can returns for New York City retailers

          3  only.  It would allow instead of the requirement of

          4  taking back 240 bottles and cans per person per day

          5  of products that they sell, to lower it to 72

          6  bottles and cans if either there's a redemption

          7  center within half a mile or if they set up a two-

          8  hour window in which time they take back the full

          9  240 amount.  That was a significant change

         10  specifically referring to the concerns raised by New

         11  York City retailers about shortages in storage

         12  space.

         13                 At the same time, the bill encouraged

         14  the creation of new redemption centers by expanding

         15  the definition of recycling projects that could be

         16  funded under the Environmental Protection Fund to

         17  include non- profit and municipal redemption

         18  centers.  So, for instance, if the City of New York

         19  itself wanted to open up redemption centers, they

         20  could apply for a grant from the EPF, the way this

         21  legislation was crafted, to help start that up and

         22  that would be sort of a win- win for everybody.

         23                 As you mentioned, the bill's been

         24  once again amended with what I believe to be a

         25  significant increase in the handling fee from two
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          2  cents per bottle or can to either three and a half

          3  cents or to three cents if the store uses a reverse

          4  vending machine.  This is going to have a lot of

          5  benefits.  Obviously, there's an additional

          6  compensation to stores for their labor and storage

          7  costs, but there's also greater incentive, greater

          8  economic incentive for more redemption centers to

          9  start up.  And that's -- I think we all know that

         10  that's going to be something that going to ease the

         11  burden on retailers, especially here in the City.

         12  And it's also a fairer compensation to the smaller

         13  stores that can't afford the reverse vending

         14  machines because they get a higher handling fee per

         15  bottle or can returned.

         16                 I'm going to skip over some of the

         17  other stuff I was going to say.

         18                 I'm sure that having been to these

         19  hearings before, I can sort of anticipate what some

         20  of the opponents here today will say, but I imagine

         21  that Jenny Gitlitz at CRI here is going to be

         22  talking about some of those arguments. Correct?

         23  Okay.  So I'm just going to speed up because I know

         24  there's a lot of people who want to talk after me.

         25                 Just again, on timing, the bill just
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          2  passed the Assembly Environmental Conservation

          3  Committee yesterday. We really urge the City Council

          4  to move forward on this resolution before it becomes

          5  irrelevant because the session is coming to close,

          6  we hope, in the next few weeks and the importance of

          7  New York City weighing in on this legislation I

          8  think is significant.  You don't want to be passing

          9  a resolution six months after the law got passed.

         10  So if you have constructive comments such as

         11  Councilman Koppell suggested or you just want to say

         12  go for it, we think this is the right thing to do, I

         13  would encourage you to do so sooner rather than

         14  later.

         15                 And in terms of the issues of the

         16  retailers, I don't think you're going to find many

         17  retailers, there might be one today, saying that

         18  they're now going to support this bill now that the

         19  changes have been made.  I think that the retailers

         20  would rather have this law go away.  So I'm hoping

         21  that that's not going to be how this committee makes

         22  its determination because the issue is, is the

         23  legislation fair and I think it is.  I think

         24  Assemblyman DiNapoli has really worked hard to

         25  listen to the concerns raised by the retailers.  I
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          2  think he's made some changes specifically

          3  benefitting New York City retailers as well as

          4  retailers across the State.

          5                 The way the bottle bill works is

          6  there's -- it puts the responsibility on the

          7  companies that manufacture these products and the

          8  companies that sell these products to be involved in

          9  handling the waste that's created by these products.

         10    And again, I'm not going to talk about that

         11  because I know my colleagues will be talking about

         12  the environmental impacts of the legislation.  And

         13  so what this does is without government intrusion,

         14  we don't have to have the government play a role

         15  here.  The industry is taking care of the problem,

         16  and this is a model that's been very successful

         17  which could be expanded to other types of waste,

         18  other products in the waste stream.

         19                 Which brings me to Resolution 174,

         20  the zero waste proposal.  We believe that the bottle

         21  bill, the Bigger Better Bottle Bill, is not only a

         22  way to help advance the goal of zero waste, it is

         23  also a model that producers of other products can

         24  follow and the Legislature of the State of New York

         25  as well as here, to the degree possible, should be
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          2  working on other legislation modeled after the

          3  bottle bill to put deposits on these materials and

          4  get them back so they can be reclaimed.

          5                 So with that, I handed around a

          6  package of fact sheets and information and I'll pass

          7  the mike on to Virali.  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Thank you, Ms.

          9  Haicht.

         10                 MS. GOKALDAS:  Good afternoon,

         11  Chairman McMahon and members of the Committee on

         12  Sanitation and Solid Waste.  My name is Virali

         13  Gokaldas.  I'm a policy analyst for the Natural

         14  Resources Defense Council.  As you know, NRDC has

         15  been active for almost 30 years on environmental

         16  issues in the New York State region including

         17  recycling and other solid waste issues.

         18                 In short, we strongly support the

         19  passage of the resolutions by this Committee and the

         20  Council as a whole to expand and strengthen New York

         21  State's 20 year old bottle bill program and adopt a

         22  zero waste policy for New York City.  Our brief

         23  remarks today will primarily focus on how an updated

         24  bill will help lower New York City's curbside costs

         25  and provide the City -- curbside recycling costs,
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          2  that is, and provide the City with increased

          3  financing for environmental programs.

          4                 New York State's Returnable Beverage

          5  Container Act, commonly known as the bottle bill,

          6  has been one of the most successful recycling and

          7  litter reduction programs in New York.  And since

          8  it's passage in 1982, the bottle bill has returned

          9  more than 3,700,000 tons of glass, 850,000 tons of

         10  aluminum and 550,000 tons of plastic.

         11                 In spite of this success, the bottle

         12  bill requires updating to include a host of new

         13  beverages that did not exist in large numbers at the

         14  time of its passage and to return unredeemed nickels

         15  back to New Yorkers.  NRDC strongly supports passing

         16  Resolution 144 as a way of telling Albany that New

         17  York State's bottle bill law needs to be brought up

         18  to date.  The expansion of the bill will not only

         19  help boost recycling of bottles and cans throughout

         20  the State but also offers substantial benefits to

         21  New York City in particular and municipalities

         22  across the State.

         23                 First, the proposed legislation would

         24  expand the materials covered under the program to

         25  include so- called "new age" beverages such as
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          2  bottled water, juices and iced teas.  Over the past

          3  20 years we've seen huge growth in non carbonated

          4  drinks.  These "new age" drinks now make up more

          5  than 21% of the beverage container market in New

          6  York State or 2.6 billion bottles and cans per year.

          7  And these items are bottled in virtually the same

          8  containers as beer and non- carbonated beverages but

          9  often end up as litter on our street or dumped in

         10  landfills and incinerators at a cost to cities, to

         11  municipalities.

         12                 For New York City in particular,

         13  expanding the items covered under the proposed

         14  legislation will help streamline the City's own

         15  curbside recycling program as noted by the IBO

         16  earlier today.  Indeed, expansion of the program

         17  would help remove over 67,000 tons of mostly glass

         18  and plastic materials from the City's waste stream.

         19  This move could save the City more than 10 million

         20  in collection and disposal costs.  And this is a

         21  higher figure than the IBO because this is using an

         22  outdated number from 2004.  So the estimate is

         23  actually 10 million based on current collection and

         24  disposal costs for New York City.

         25                 This reform will also remove a
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          2  significant amount of glass from the curbside

          3  recycling program and divert its higher end uses.

          4  When glass bottles are collected at the curb, it

          5  often times breaks and mixes with other items,

          6  making recycling more difficult for municipalities.

          7  While there are some markets for this broken glass,

          8  the bottle bill provides a means for sorting bottles

          9  and selling the material for higher market uses and

         10  for higher market values.  It is an essential

         11  complement to the curbside recycling.  I'm going to

         12  repeat that.  It is a complement to the curbside

         13  recycling program by reducing the City's collection

         14  and disposal costs while ensuring that these

         15  materials continue to be recycled.

         16                 Second, expanding the bill to reclaim

         17  unredeemed nickels will directly benefit New York

         18  City. Over the last 20 years, every five cents paid

         19  out by New Yorkers that remains unredeemed has been

         20  going to the beverage industry as a windfall.  And

         21  since the bottle bill program was started 20 years

         22  ago, the beverage industry has conservatively

         23  pocketed more than $1 billion.  The proposed

         24  legislation would direct that these monies be placed

         25  in the State's Environmental Protection Fund to
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          2  boost funding for environmental efforts statewide.

          3  And under an expanded law, the unclaimed deposits

          4  would total approximately 180 million statewide,

          5  including almost 75 million for New York City alone.

          6    And this is using CRI's figures as well, which I

          7  believe the IBO mentioned earlier.

          8                 As Council Member Koppell noted, as

          9  well as my colleague, Laura Haicht, some previous

         10  concerns that retailers have raised in connection

         11  with an expanded bottle bill have been addressed by

         12  recent amendments to the proposed legislation.  One

         13  of the biggest concerns is that because of space and

         14  logistical constraints in New York City's high-

         15  density neighborhoods, expanding the number of

         16  beverages may prove to be challenging for some

         17  stores and bodegas.  In response to this legitimate

         18  issue, the proposed legislation now has provisions

         19  to limit the number of containers that retailers

         20  must redeem and to encourage the establishment of

         21  alternative redemption centers.  And related to

         22  this, the amended language of the state bill also

         23  proposes a higher handling fee to cover the costs of

         24  redeeming these containers and a greater penalty for

         25  illegal redemptions.
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          2                 Now, I'm going to turn my attention

          3  to the zero waste resolution.  Building up on the

          4  City's resurrected curbside recycling program and

          5  the bottle bill, NRDC also believes that the City

          6  should pursue other important strategies that could

          7  reduce our overall solid waste costs and help the

          8  environment.  Specifically, the City should begin

          9  implementing waste reduction measures such as

         10  promoting the reuse of durable goods or reducing

         11  consumer packaging.  The City should also adopt new

         12  manufacturer take- back programs, starting with

         13  computer and other electronic goods, that could --

         14  excuse me, that would reduce the toxicity of the

         15  waste stream and shift some of the costs of managing

         16  our wastes from taxpayers to the producers of

         17  consumer goods.  These programs are now in force

         18  through the European Union, and recently California

         19  and Maine have enacted new landmark electronic waste

         20  recycling laws.  To jumpstart the City's actions in

         21  this area, we support the passage of Resolution 174

         22  which calls on City officials to adopt a long- term

         23  zero waste policy.

         24                 Thank you very much for the

         25  opportunity to testify and I'm going to pass it on
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          2  to my colleague, Jenny Gitlitz.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Just as you

          4  hand over the baton, we are, staff is working on

          5  right now a bill regarding the returning of

          6  electronic equipment, to mandate it in the City, so

          7  we are working on that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I hope we're

          9  also working on batteries, Mr. Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  We're working

         11  on the batteries, too.

         12                 MS. GITLITZ:  I'm not sure what to do

         13  with my written things.

         14                 Good afternoon, members of the

         15  Committee.  My name is Jenny Gitlitz.  I'm the

         16  Research Director for the Container Recycling

         17  Institute which Elizabeth Franklin mentioned before

         18  in her remarks.  CRI is a non- profit 501(c)3

         19  organization based in Arlington, Virginia.  Since

         20  1991, we've served as the only national

         21  clearinghouse for information on beverage container

         22  sales, recycling and wasting trends.

         23                 I am here to urge the Committee to

         24  pass Resolution 144 calling on the New York State

         25  Legislature to expand the bottle bill.  I'm going to
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          2  try to just hit on the major points in my testimony

          3  since you do have a written copy and since Laura and

          4  Virali and Elizabeth already mentioned many of the

          5  things.  And I think I'm going to ad lib a little

          6  bit about some of the industry arguments which may

          7  come up today.

          8                 So just to summarize, the New York

          9  bottle bill has been extremely successful.  We've

         10  estimated 80 billion containers redeemed.  It could

         11  be as many as a hundred.  I think record keeping

         12  wasn't so good at the beginning, but it's up there,

         13  it's many times to the moon and back.  Over the last

         14  20 years, the redemption rate has been 75% in New

         15  York, has averaged 75%.  And just to give you an

         16  idea of what that means, today the national beverage

         17  container redemption rate for aluminum, glass and

         18  plastic combined is only 36% and this is despite

         19  years of curbside recycling programs being brought

         20  on board and many other recycling initiatives.  And

         21  it also includes the presence of ten bottle bill

         22  states like New York.  Without those ten bottle bill

         23  states, that nationwide average would probably be in

         24  the low 20s, not 36.  So it's very clear that the

         25  bottle bill succeeds at recycling where other
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          2  programs fail to measure up.

          3                 We have generated figures using DEC

          4  reported data on container sales that would indicate

          5  that between 140 and $180 million in unclaimed

          6  revenues could accrue to the State if the unredeemed

          7  deposits were kept.  The low end of that range is

          8  based on DEC numbers.  We believe that DEC, in the

          9  beverage industry's reporting to the DEC, they are

         10  underreporting actual sales and we believe that

         11  because of industry data that we have collected and

         12  analyzed on a nationwide and regional basis and

         13  we've found that the New York numbers are well below

         14  what we know to be sold in the northeast region.  So

         15  that is where the 180 million comes from, that's the

         16  range.  And we think, based on New York City's

         17  slightly lower redemption rate than the rest of the

         18  State that this would mean about half of that range,

         19  so between 70 and $90 million might be available for

         20  New York City to offset the costs of municipal

         21  recycling and other environmental programs.  And all

         22  of these figures are laid out in my testimony in the

         23  two tables at the back.

         24                 As the previous speaker said, 20

         25  years ago there were no uncarbonated beverages sold.
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          2    Now they comprise 20 to 25% of the beverage

          3  market.  For New York State that's about two and a

          4  half billion containers that are exempt from the

          5  bottle bill.  This is an expense collection burden

          6  to municipalities, as Virali mentioned. More than

          7  90% of the non- carbonated containers we're talking

          8  about for expansion are glass and plastic.  Only 7%

          9  is valuable aluminum cans that the curbside programs

         10  look to for revenue.

         11                 I'm going to skip over the next part

         12  because I think Virali did a good job covering it

         13  and I'm just going to stress that when the New York

         14  City, when New York City cut glass and plastics out

         15  of its curbside program a few years ago, the object

         16  was to save money.  And the City found that

         17  diverting these recyclables back into the trash

         18  stream was also a very expensive proposition, so the

         19  curbside recycling of bottles has been reinstituted.

         20  But the underlying rationale for taking those low

         21  value bottles out of the curbside municipal

         22  collection stream is still sound and that is what

         23  the expansion of the bottle bill would do. And as

         24  Virali mentioned, she's calculated it would save $10

         25  million in collection costs.
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          2                 Okay.  I just briefly want to point

          3  out that there is precedent for the State retaining

          4  unclaimed deposits.  In Massachusetts about $35

          5  million a year escheats to the State and Governor

          6  Romney for the last two years running has proposed

          7  expanding the bottle bill really as a revenue

          8  generating measure.  We project that between 10 and

          9  $14 million could be generated there and that's with

         10  a population one- third the size of New York's, so

         11  you can imagine how much more would be generated

         12  here.  And this escheat provision has withstood

         13  challenges in the Massachusetts Supreme Court.

         14                 Michigan, which is the only state in

         15  the country with a dime deposit and has a 95%

         16  recycling rate, retains 75% of the unclaimed

         17  deposits.  So they do unclaimed deposit sharing

         18  similar to what Mr. Koppell mentioned earlier.  Even

         19  with a 95% redemption rate, which leaves only 5%

         20  unclaimed deposits, the State still was able to keep

         21  over $17 million in unclaimed deposits in the year

         22  2000.

         23                 Maine escheats 50% of its abandoned

         24  deposits and California keeps unclaimed deposits and

         25  so will the State of Hawaii.  Hawaii is the 11th
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          2  state to pass a bottle bill.  It's going to be

          3  implemented in January of next year.

          4                 So those are the summaries of the

          5  nuts and bolts.  Now, I'd like to follow up on what

          6  Laura suggested which is to address some of the very

          7  common arguments that industry covers, and I'm just

          8  going to ad lib this.

          9                 One of the main industry arguments is

         10  that the bottle bill expansion would cause

         11  businesses to close and make the industry not

         12  profitable.  And I just want to point out that the

         13  industry nationwide has seen growth every year.

         14  Even if it's not huge, it is growing, it is not

         15  losing money.  Where beer and soda sales have

         16  remained relatively flat, the expansion in sales of

         17  non- carbonated containers has been so rapid that

         18  it's really provided profit to the industry quite a

         19  bit.

         20                 Another argument is that the

         21  expansion of the bottle bill would be a so- called

         22  child's tax.  I've seen that this week in the

         23  newspaper calling it a child's tax. And I think it's

         24  just important to point out this is really spurious.

         25    If you look at the tables, if you look at my table
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          2  1A on page 4, you can see about a third of the way

          3  down, that the only beverage that can be considered

          4  to be nutritional is fruit beverages.  It's 6% of

          5  the total market.  It's less than a third of what

          6  would be covered under an expansion.  That includes

          7  not just fruit juices but what are called fruit

          8  drinks, those things that contain less than 10%

          9  fruit juice.  So it's really not true to say this is

         10  a hardship on nutritional issues.  It's also not

         11  true to say that this is a hardship on poor people

         12  because the bottle bill is not a tax, it's a 100%

         13  refundable deposit and if a consumer chooses not to

         14  bring a bottle back, that is a voluntary choice.

         15                 Another argument is that the bottle

         16  bill duplicates curbside programs and I think Virali

         17  used a nice word when she said this is a

         18  complementary program and we concur.  We just want

         19  to point out, to give you the national perspective,

         20  that between 1990 and 2000, the number of curbside

         21  recycling programs tripled in the United States. The

         22  number of people that had access to curbside went

         23  from 15% of the American population to over 50% of

         24  the American population.  And despite this

         25  tremendous increase in access to curbside recycling,
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          2  the recycling rates for all three types of beverage

          3  containers, that is plastic bottles, glass bottles

          4  and aluminum cans, all declined.  And it seems like

          5  a paradox because most people think curbside

          6  recycling is increasing, the recycling rates must be

          7  increasing, too.  It makes sense.  But there have

          8  been other trends to counterbalance that, and one of

          9  these trends is away from home consumption.  We all

         10  do it.  We're all busier than we were ten years ago,

         11  society's different.  The industry has capitalized

         12  on this by putting refrigerator cases and vending

         13  machines in every conceivable location where they

         14  didn't exist 10 or 15 years ago.  It's meant the per

         15  capita consumption has gone up.  Total sales have

         16  gone up.  The location of sales has changed.  And

         17  even if people do have curbside recycling in their

         18  apartment building or anywhere they live, they

         19  usually do not bring a container home.  They don't

         20  carry it with them all day long and bring it home.

         21  So the financial incentive of an expanded bottle

         22  bill addresses these single- serve containers, many

         23  of whom are juice and water as people seek to

         24  consumer healthier beverages when they're on the go.

         25    This is what the bottle bill addresses that
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          2  curbside just cannot possibly target.  It's not

          3  designed to do that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  If I could just

          5  ask you to sum up, if I could.

          6                 MS. GITLITZ:  I'm done, actually.

          7  Those were the four major industry comments.  So

          8  thank you.

          9                 MS. TOBORG:  Good afternoon.  My name

         10  is Barbara Toborg and I'm with the American Littoral

         11  Society. And as I mentioned at the last hearing

         12  before this Committee, it's not a book club, it's a

         13  coastal conservation organization.  We have been on

         14  the front lines of doing some research on types of

         15  containers that we find on our beaches, in our parks

         16  and in our waterways.

         17                 The American Littoral Society has

         18  coordinated New York's involvement in an

         19  international coastal cleanup for the past 18 years

         20  and last year when we got into this fight for the

         21  bottle bill, we decided to ask our volunteers to

         22  count the bottles and cans, beverage bottles and

         23  cans that they picked up.  And lo and behold, they

         24  found that the containers with no deposit

         25  outstripped the ones that did by a two to one
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          2  margin.  Of the 16,915 beverage containers that our

          3  volunteers at several sites found, 38% had a

          4  deposit, while 62% did not.

          5                 For this year I decided that since

          6  they say a picture is worth a thousand words, and

          7  we've heard a lot of words already, I decided to ask

          8  people to take a picture of the separation of the

          9  bottles and it's on the third page of your

         10  testimony.  I think it shows very clearly.  And the

         11  ones in the front are the water bottles, the Poland

         12  Spring and the mineral water, and the small pile, of

         13  course, is the ones that have the deposit.  Because

         14  by giving the deposit to these containers, you give

         15  them value and they are returned.  They are gleaned

         16  off the street by people in less fortunate

         17  circumstances and it gets them out of the waste

         18  stream.

         19                 And I think that the main point is

         20  actually the distributor, the seller and the buyer

         21  have to take responsibility for what happens to

         22  their containers, their computers, their batteries.

         23  We can't be a throw- away society much longer.  It's

         24  the resources just will not sustain that.  So I hope

         25  that you will pass this resolution and I ask for
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          2  your support.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Thank you.

          4  What happened to the beach cleanup this year?

          5                 MS. TOBORG:   It will be on September

          6  18th.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Okay.

          8                 MS. TOBORG:   And you can do your own

          9  research on the bottle bill.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  We did it last

         11  year. No, we did that, your survey.  We answered all

         12  the questions but I wondered -- I thought it was in

         13  the spring last year, wasn't it?  In the fall?

         14                 MS. TOBORG:   No, it's always the

         15  third weekend in September.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  All right.

         17  We'll see your people in Fort Wadsworth.

         18                 MS. TOBORG:   Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Let me ask you,

         20  first of all, and anybody can jump in, or Laura,

         21  what's the chance of passage in Albany?

         22                 MS. HAICHT:  Well, they still haven't

         23  negotiated the budget yet.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Be objective.

         25                 MS. HAICHT:  I mean, the budget has
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          2  still not been agreed upon, so I think that for as

          3  long as that is in play, this bill is in play

          4  because it is revenue.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Are the five

          6  Senate sponsors Democrats or Republicans or a mix?

          7                 MS. HAICHT:  There are four

          8  Republicans. It's Senator LaValle, DeFrancisco,

          9  Marchi and Padavan, two of whom are from New York,

         10  and one Democrat.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  And one thing

         12  we've thought about in terms of thinking out of the

         13  box, and just as ideas thrown around, and now that

         14  the City has resumed full recycling, although there

         15  were some who said to me that would never happen,

         16  now that we have done that --

         17                 MS. HAICHT:  We're very happy.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  -- And we want

         19  to make recycling work, what about splitting up the

         20  items, say putting aluminum and plastic into

         21  recycling and trying to capture the glass with the

         22  nickel deposit.  Has anybody looked at that or is

         23  that an idea that people have thrown around?

         24                 MS. HAICHT:  No, nobody's talking

         25  about any repeal or rollback of the --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Not rollback of

          3  what exists, but say the new expansion, make it for

          4  the glass products, the "new age" glass products and

          5  leave cans and plastic out of it because they work

          6  in the recycling program.

          7                 MS. HAICHT:  It's not been talked

          8  about in Albany, and I would argue that the plastic

          9  also isn't profitable.  And as Jenny said, the

         10  aluminum is such a tiny fraction, it's less than 9%

         11  of the expansion material, it's not being talked

         12  about.  One of the sectors that's been very active

         13  in this campaign are the municipal recyclers, the

         14  New York City Association of Recycling, Reduction

         15  and Reuse and a lot of county recycling programs.

         16  They're all endorsing this legislation because they

         17  know that the savings from not having to handle

         18  plastic and glass -- because plastic is also

         19  expensive on the collection end.  The savings from

         20  not having to handle all that glass and plastic far

         21  outweighs the cost of losing the aluminum revenue.

         22  Now, the aluminum revenue, by the way, goes to the

         23  beverage companies.  They get -- they sell this for

         24  scrap value, so they do get some compensation, you

         25  know, in that way.  I'm sure it doesn't cover all
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          2  their costs.

          3                 With regard to the transparency

          4  issue, in terms of does this money really exist,

          5  you're talking about a 20- year battle.  I mean,

          6  Governor Cuomo had set up the Moreland Act

          7  Commission in 1989 to try to look at what the real

          8  cost of compliance was for the beer and soda

          9  companies and they wouldn't open up their books.  So

         10  this has been actually an issue that's been debated.

         11    You know, is it a windfall, is it not.  I don't

         12  know.  Nobody knows exactly what the costs are, but

         13  the bottom line is it is abandoned public property

         14  and, with the State and local government suffering

         15  as badly as they are economically, we think it's

         16  about time.  It's been a 20- year run and we think

         17  it's time now, as other states have done, to amend

         18  the law.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Well, I

         20  understand that.  But if someone says to me well

         21  then the unclaimed amount is $46 million to the City

         22  of New York, that's a good faith guess.  We don't

         23  know that.

         24                 MS. HAICHT:  Well, the DEC does

         25  collect statistics.  It's reported essentially
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          2  voluntarily by the beverage industry so the DEC in

          3  their own annual report will say these are likely an

          4  underestimate because the DEC has less than one

          5  full- time staff person enforcing the law. They're

          6  not ground truthing it.  Right now, the DEC says

          7  that the beverage industry is keeping $85 million a

          8  year. And that's from reporting data from the

          9  beverage industry, so we know 85 million is the

         10  basement.  CRI looked at the marketing data and,

         11  believe me, 140 is not the ceiling.  I think 140 is

         12  a conservative judgment based on their knowledge and

         13  based on the data that's available.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Okay.  Well,

         15  thank you all very much and we thank you for your

         16  continued advocacy on behalf of our environment and

         17  our economy.  Thank you.

         18                 Okay.  The next panel are Patricia

         19  Brodhagen from the Food Industry Alliance, Bob

         20  Oberosler from Pathmark, Mary Moore from the

         21  D'Agostino Supermarkets and Mitch Klein from

         22  Krasdale Foods.

         23                 Okay.  Welcome back.  We started on

         24  this side last time.  You decide.  Go ahead.  Go

         25  ahead, Mary.

                                                            48

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2                 MS. MOORE:  Good afternoon, Chairman

          3  McMahon and members of the Committee.  Thank you for

          4  this opportunity to testify on this very important

          5  issue.  My name is Mary Moore.  I'm the Director of

          6  Public Affairs for D'Agostino Supermarkets.

          7  D'Agostino operates 22 supermarkets in the

          8  metropolitan area.  Two stores are in Westchester

          9  County, but 20 stores are in New York City; two in

         10  Brooklyn and 18 stores in Manhattan.  D'Agostino is

         11  the last family owned and operated supermarket chain

         12  in New York City.  We employ 1,000 associates,

         13  almost all of them New York City residents.

         14                 I am here today to voice our very

         15  strong opposition to the expansion of the New York

         16  State Returnable Container Law.  Operating a

         17  supermarket in New York City is not easy.  Lack of

         18  spaced in the store, lack of space for storage in a

         19  very difficult system for unloading trucks and

         20  moving products into the store are a challenge we

         21  must overcome.  But it is the New York State

         22  Returnable Container Law that has become our most

         23  difficult operational issue. What puts the bottle

         24  law at the top of the list is the massive

         25  overredemption we experience daily in our stores.

                                                            49

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2                 For example, during fiscal year 2002

          3  to 2003, we sold over approximately 10 million

          4  containers, but we redeemed 20 million containers.

          5  That means we are redeeming 10 million more than we

          6  sold at a redemption rate of over 200%.  So far

          7  during this fiscal year, we have sold 6 million

          8  containers and redeemed 8.6 million.  And the hot

          9  weather, when redemption increases, has not yet

         10  arrived.

         11                 Our redemption comes not from our

         12  customers but from professional redeemers who bring

         13  back, as allowed by law, 240 cans or bottles per

         14  day.  That's ten cases of soda or beer.  These

         15  containers may be empty, but they aren't sanitary.

         16  They're collected from trash baskets in the parks

         17  and on street corners, from recycling bins and

         18  garbage bags outside residential buildings and from

         19  the back of restaurants and bars throughout the

         20  City.

         21                 Handling this kind of redemption

         22  causes severe operational problems.  At D'Agostino,

         23  we do not use reverse vending machines.  We don't

         24  want the vending machines inside the stores because

         25  we don't have room.  Our stores are very small.
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          2  They're about 7,500 square feet on average.  We do

          3  not want to put the machines on the sidewalk outside

          4  the store because we feel that would impact the

          5  quality of life in our neighborhoods.  Instead, we

          6  count returns by hand as quickly as we possibly can.

          7    The redemption requires an associate at the front

          8  end of the store to stop whatever job he or her --

          9  she or he may be doing and to count the containers.

         10                 Once we redeem containers, we get

         11  them out of the store as quickly as possible.  We

         12  have contracted with a third party who collects

         13  empty containers from our stores and processes them.

         14    The third party requires us to divide the redeemed

         15  containers by material and size.  There are seven

         16  separate sorts that are done at the store before the

         17  containers are picked up.  This entire process is

         18  very, very costly.  In fact, D'Agostino loses 3.6

         19  cents every time we redeem a container.  I want to

         20  emphasize that that 3.6 cents is a loss that is

         21  above and beyond after we deduct the handling fee

         22  from our costs.

         23                 If the bottle law is expanded, it's

         24  going to make everything worse.

         25                 Under the current system, all the
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          2  returnable containers come into our stores from soda

          3  and beer distributors who deliver to the stores

          4  every day.  If the returnable container law is

          5  expanded, the new deposit containers such as bottled

          6  waters or juices, will be delivered to us not only

          7  from local distributors but from our warehouse in

          8  Vermont.            These additional containers will

          9  range from eight ounces to 64 ounce beverage cans

         10  and bottles.  These containers will come from

         11  hundreds of different manufacturers across the

         12  country.  The deposit system on these products

         13  creates a logistical nightmare.

         14  We would have to sort and return these containers to

         15  the manufacturer.

         16                 We currently sort into seven

         17  categories at store level.  With expansion, we

         18  believe we would have to sort into 175 categories.

         19  Who would pick up these containers?  They could not

         20  be returned to the warehouse on a grocery delivery

         21  truck because they aren't sanitary. They'd

         22  contaminate the truck and that is against federal

         23  law.

         24                 The returns will overwhelm the

         25  stores.  Where would we store them?  We don't have
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          2  enough room to store the current containers that are

          3  returned to the stores.  And how will that affect

          4  the sanitary conditions we must maintain as a

          5  supermarket?

          6                 I can't emphasize enough that the

          7  reality of expanding the bottle law is really

          8  frightening to our company.  We have small stores.

          9  As I've mentioned, there's very little storage

         10  space.  At our rate of redemption that we are

         11  experiencing now, we could anticipate nearly 6

         12  million additional containers being returned to the

         13  stores.

         14                 Expanding the bottle law, we think,

         15  will make our relationship with shoppers and New

         16  York City residents worse, because the majority of

         17  returnable containers currently being redeemed in

         18  our stores are made in large quantities.  The men

         19  and women who collect them gather in front of our

         20  stores to wait to have them redeemed.  This has

         21  caused a great deal of concern in the community.

         22                 Our leases have been in jeopardy

         23  because of the redemption situation.  We hear from

         24  shoppers, residents in the buildings in which we

         25  operate, co-op boards and community boards as well
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          2  as passerbys.  All of them ask the same question:

          3  Why are we allowing so many containers to be

          4  redeemed at our stores?  The answer, of course, is

          5  very simple.  We are obeying the law.

          6                 Recyclable containers belong in

          7  curbside recycling or in redemption centers.  They

          8  do not belong in supermarkets that are providing

          9  fresh food to the community. State government, it is

         10  asking us to maintain high sanitation standards and

         11  at the same time turning us into a dumping ground

         12  for cans and bottles.

         13                 At D'Agostino we do maintain high

         14  standards. Our stores are clean, pleasant stores to

         15  shop in.  We believe in recycling.  We recycle

         16  cardboard as well as bone and fat.  Our

         17  refrigeration is environmentally friendly.  We work

         18  with the City to get the word out about the

         19  importance of recycling.  But the New York State

         20  Returnable Container Law has turned us into a

         21  redemption center.  Expanding the container law to

         22  include even more containers would be a devastating

         23  blow to D'Agostino and to our industry.

         24                 At D'Agostino we are more than

         25  willing to work with you to develop a plan that
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          2  would expand recycling and return our stores to the

          3  business of being New York's grocer.  Thank you.

          4                 MR. OBEROSLER:  Thank you, Chairman,

          5  and thank you, Council, for the opportunity to

          6  discuss the proposed changes in the current

          7  regulation on redeemable containers.  My name is Bob

          8  Oberosler.  I work for Pathmark Supermarkets as a

          9  Senior Vice- President.

         10                 Pathmark is a 141 store chain

         11  operating in the northeast, doing approximately $4

         12  billion in sales, 26 and soon to be 27 in the Bronx.

         13    Our stores are located in New York City.  Pathmark

         14  New York City stores are on target to redeem over

         15  128 million containers this year.  We sell less than

         16  40 million redeemable containers per year in all of

         17  our city locations combined.  This means our company

         18  redeems over 200% more containers than we sell

         19  annually.

         20                 Pathmark represents 9% of all

         21  containers redeemed in the City and we process

         22  approximately 1 million bottle redemption slips

         23  through our City store registers. As you can see,

         24  we're a very active participant in the redemption

         25  arena.  As a significant participant we know all too
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          2  well the container law has negatively affected our

          3  bottom line, caused major problems in the stores

          4  including food safety and sanitation issues and

          5  numerous fraudulent scams, costing our company in

          6  excess of $1 million.              Personally, I've

          7  worked closely with the redemption vendors, senior

          8  members of the DEC law enforcement and the State

          9  Director for the DEC on issues directly related to

         10  the redemption containers.  Along with all this

         11  experience, hopefully qualifies me to be able to

         12  give you some valuable insight.

         13                 Many are not aware just how thin our

         14  profit margins are in the supermarket business.

         15  Most operate on a one to 2% profit margin.  Some may

         16  draw a conclusion in the expansion of the bottle

         17  bill, our capture of unclaimed redemptions will be

         18  easily absorbed.  I'm here to tell you that current

         19  considerations of amending the redeemable container

         20  regulations will have a compounding negative effect

         21  on Pathmark and, I suspect, other retailers,

         22  especially retailers who redeem substantially more

         23  containers than they sell.

         24                 Expansion of the bill will negatively

         25  affect our company in many areas.  Here are a few
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          2  examples.  More expense to maintain our high ratings

          3  of food safety standards in the increased containers

          4  will bring.  It's a big expensive redemption now

          5  absorbed by the supermarkets.

          6                 I also have a major concern for the

          7  amount of additional space, even our big stores,

          8  that we will need to handle, by my estimates, 44

          9  million more containers in Pathmark alone.  We have

         10  difficulty now allocating enough space to the wide

         11  variety of items our customers demand today.  If we

         12  have to squeeze in more unproductive bottle

         13  redemption space, we will be forced to remove some

         14  products, ultimately hurting our sales.

         15                 Additional costs include leasing and

         16  supplies for reverse vending and the ongoing cost to

         17  upgrade technology in order to stay one step ahead

         18  of the fraudulent redemption slip scammers.

         19                 Now, please allow me a moment to

         20  speak on behalf of our customers and the added

         21  burden this proposal will have on them.  Our

         22  customers will have to now backhaul even more

         23  containers to the store just to break even and get

         24  their money back.  Think of the customer that cannot

         25  reclaim the five cent deposit on each container and
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          2  what the customer buys in a typical weekly shopping

          3  trip; a case of soda, a case of water, a 12 pack of

          4  juice.  That adds $3 in held money to the weekly

          5  food bill.  That $3 less a customer has to spend on

          6  food, $3 less to feed the family for a week. Of

          7  course, by now you're asking why would a customer

          8  not choose to return bottles and get their money

          9  back?  Well, how do you handle the school age

         10  children who are brown bagging lunch that includes a

         11  can or a glass of juice and the logistics of getting

         12  that container back?  Or put yourself in the place

         13  of a customer who uses public transportation to do

         14  their weekly shopping.  The inconvenience of getting

         15  on a bus with small children and a large bag of

         16  empty cans and bottles, which now include water and

         17  juice bottles and the cans in tow, just to get their

         18  money back.

         19                 We're talking about the basics here:

         20  Water, juice, items that impose a silent tax on

         21  those families that can afford it less, less food

         22  dollars for families struggling to make ends meet,

         23  the added inconvenience to haul, backhaul additional

         24  cans and bottles to the store just to get their

         25  money back and additional lost profits for
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          2  supermarket operators, possibly the loss of good

          3  paying jobs or the risk of higher prices.

          4  Admittedly, this may not be as much of an issue for

          5  a customer with a vehicle that lives in a home with

          6  enough storage space for additional containers and

          7  those that are fortunate enough to have enough money

          8  to absorb the $3.  For those that can't, for

          9  whatever reason, be a participant in redemption of

         10  water and juice containers, this can be $93 less per

         11  year, not including the carbonated beverage in the

         12  family food budget. And the supermarkets fighting

         13  for survival, a potential loss of $93 on lost

         14  profitable sales from families with fixed or limited

         15  incomes.  I believe these proposed changes are bad

         16  for the supermarket business and bad for the

         17  customers.

         18                 The other negative consequences:

         19  Additional debris from out- of- state non-

         20  redeemable containers that will go to the landfills,

         21  increased debris from the empty bags and boxes used

         22  to backhaul these additional containers, the

         23  additional expense for tipping fees and land use

         24  fees and, of course, the concern for food safety

         25  associated with the additional $44 million --
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          2  containers, used containers that could possibly

          3  contaminate, containers coming back to our stores.

          4                 Now, if you still feel compelled to

          5  make additions or changes to the current

          6  regulations, I respectfully request you consider

          7  ways to minimize the incremental cost to

          8  supermarkets.  I would suggest the following:

          9  Allowing the retailers that significantly overredeem

         10  to limit the hours of redemption in order to use the

         11  economy of scales to offset the additional labor

         12  costs, help in offsetting the increased fraud losses

         13  and the need   -- minimize the need for additional

         14  investment in reverse vending machines, and consider

         15  not including the non discretionary and non- locally

         16  distributed items in this bill that puts an

         17  additional burden on the customer and on the

         18  retailer.

         19                 On behalf of Pathmark, our customers,

         20  our 7,000 New York City union associates, our

         21  management teams, I thank you for hearing my

         22  comments and I'm available any time to answer

         23  questions, serve on any committee or provide any

         24  input you request as you consider this regulation.

         25                 MR. KLEIN:  Good afternoon.  My name
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          2  is Mitch Klein.  I'm the Vice- President of Retail

          3  Services for Krasdale Foods.  We represent over

          4  4,000 supermarkets, 1,100 of them are in the Greater

          5  New York area.  These are your small to mid- size

          6  stores.  Many of our store retailers are behind me

          7  here today as we are looking to address this issue.

          8                 As my colleagues here have stated

          9  before, this is something that we are highly opposed

         10  to.  Our sales in New York City alone exceed on the

         11  retail level $3 billion in retail sales.  There are

         12  lots of issues that, for some reason, never seem to

         13  surface and a lot of this seems, sometimes when we

         14  look at it, to be operated in a vacuum.

         15                 One of the main issues is the only

         16  people who take back these bottles are supermarkets.

         17    I would question or ask if any of you have ever

         18  gone to a retail drugstore, another store that sells

         19  soda which, by law, they are obligated to take those

         20  bottles back, and try to take those bottles back to

         21  them.  They will refer you to us.  That's why the

         22  gentleman at Pathmark is overredeeming.  That's why

         23  the lady at D'Agostino overredeems.  We are the only

         24  people who comply with the regulations.

         25                 Now, it's very nice to here that
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          2  there are amendments to address some of the

          3  concerns.  The new part of the amendment that will

          4  reduce the bottles from 240 to 72 doesn't mean the

          5  person's not going to come back in every other day

          6  with the same amount.  That's not going to address

          7  the concerns nor does it address the concern that no

          8  one's forced or required to redeem bottles other

          9  than us.  That's a huge problem for our stores and

         10  it's been in effect since the day we started this

         11  operation.

         12                 There's the misconception that we

         13  make money on redeeming bottles with the two cents.

         14  I can tell you now on behalf of our retailers, and

         15  many of them are right behind me, and you can

         16  question each and every one of them, the three and a

         17  half cents does not help us.  Seven and a half cents

         18  doesn't help us.  This is not an issue of making

         19  money, this is an issue of sanitation for our

         20  stores.  I would love for one of you guys or anyone

         21  to come into our stores and look what we have to

         22  deal with when these people come in with large black

         23  bags that are filled or half filled with sodas and

         24  beer and the contents.  This must go into our

         25  basement.  We have to store these bottles in our
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          2  basement for sometimes 30 days.

          3                 Now, the other problem is the beer

          4  distributors who sell us this soda only redeem and

          5  pay us back for what we purchased from them.  Yes,

          6  we're all aware of what the law is and what they're

          7  supposed to do.  The reality is you really need to

          8  be in the street to see what happens to these small

          9  retailers.  If these retailers have only purchased

         10  one case of Heinnekin and they have a hundred

         11  bottles in their basement, they do not get

         12  reimbursed. That's what actually happens in these

         13  stores.  If we increase this and add all these new

         14  bottles --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Could you tell

         16  me -- say that one more time?

         17                 MR. KLEIN:  As far as the bottles?

         18  If we purchase, for example, a beer product and we

         19  purchase one case of beer from a distributor and

         20  when that distributor comes to pick up those bottles

         21  and he finds that we have four cases, because people

         22  have redeemed others, we get reimbursed for only the

         23  one case that he purchased -- sold to us, not for

         24  the other three.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  What do you do
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          2  with the other three?  They take them?

          3                 MR. KLEIN:  He may take them back as

          4  a gratuity to being a nice guy --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  But he doesn't

          6  pay --

          7                 MR. KLEIN:  But we don't get the

          8  nickel.  And yes, we have given out that nickel.

          9  There's no question, sir, he is absolutely violating

         10  the law, but these small stores live with this 365 a

         11  week (sic).  And I agree with you, they're violating

         12  the law but these people are eating that nickel.

         13  Forget about the nickel that some other people may

         14  be holding onto.  These people are losing as many

         15  nickels as the other people hold onto.

         16                 On top of that, we know of no

         17  manufacturer who we have spoken to, we know of no

         18  vendor who we've spoken to on this proposal who has

         19  not told us that this result in a cost increase on

         20  the product.  They have to now have a product

         21  separate, they have to be able to tag it, identify

         22  it, they have to have someone to pick it up and they

         23  have to account for the nickel.

         24                 I don't know if you've discussed this

         25  with vendors, but we know of no vendor that said if
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          2  we have to do what other vendors do to put a nickel

          3  on a product and get it back, it will not increase

          4  in cost.  Now, if a manufacturer increases the cost

          5  by a nickel, when it goes to a wholesaler which

          6  operates on a mark- up basis, that now gets

          7  compounded in an increase on a percentage basis

          8  going to the retailer.  The retailer now, to protect

          9  his margins, is going to mark that product up, not

         10  to mention the extra handling.  This will definitely

         11  cost the consumer more money.  There's no question

         12  about it.  We know of no vendor, none, that have not

         13  said they will not increase the cost if they have to

         14  comply with this regulation.

         15                 We believe that the recycling is

         16  important. We don't believe it belongs in our

         17  supermarkets.  The problem on contamination and dirt

         18  that escalates each day is a problem for all of us.

         19  We all have to eat and use this food.  The

         20  supermarket next to the hospital is supposed to be

         21  one of the cleanliest places in the area for all of

         22  us. I would love you to see what some basements have

         23  to store next to clean food and then reconsider who

         24  actually should hold this.  This stuff belongs in a

         25  recycling place, not in a store that's selling fresh
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          2  food to families.

          3                 We welcome to take you into our

          4  stores, to show you what we do on a statistical

          5  basis, not on an accounting basis, not on moving

          6  numbers around on paper to make something look good.

          7    We would love to show you what happens hand to

          8  hand, face to face when we have to deal with these

          9  people bringing bottles to us on a regular basis

         10  when they don't go elsewhere.  We do know what the

         11  law states, but we're the ones who bear the burden

         12  for all of this.  We would welcome your attendance.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Thank you.  Let

         14  me just say as a credit to Ms. Brodhagen, who's

         15  sitting at the table with you, I don't know if

         16  you're a member of her organization or not, but you

         17  should be because she has brought the Committee to

         18  some of the local supermarkets and we've seen that

         19  firsthand.  So you should know that we have done

         20  that.

         21                 MS. BRODHAGEN:  My name is Patricia

         22  Brodhagen.  I'm the Vice- President of Public

         23  Affairs for the Food Industry Alliance, the

         24  statewide trade association of the grocery industry

         25  and, yes, all these folks are members of the
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          2  Alliance, and I'm very proud to say that they are. I'm

          3  not going to repeat what you've heard. I'm just

          4  going to repeat the point that we're trying to make,

          5  is this:  That implementing the bottle law as it is

          6  currently is hugely problematic for New York's

          7  grocers, especially in New York City.  You've heard

          8  plenty of testimony about that.

          9                 I also want to recognize that some of

         10  the amendments that you've talked about do reflect

         11  improvements that we've sought through the

         12  regulatory process.  I don't want to have that go

         13  unrecognized, but adding containers to the bottle

         14  law is not reasonable, it's not rational.

         15                 Since we last appeared before you, I

         16  think it was in October of 2002, the City has

         17  resumed full recycling. The containers that you're

         18  talking about capturing are containers for which

         19  your recycling infrastructure exists. We have really

         20  different points of view on this from other people

         21  that you've heard, but that's why to us the deposit

         22  is tantamount to a tax for consumers, because they

         23  will largely forego redemption as they do now.

         24                 You know, when the bottle bill

         25  started, the idea was that you would buy soda and
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          2  beer and you would take it back in roughly the same

          3  quantities as you bought it to the place where you

          4  bought it.  And maybe it was like that for a while,

          5  I don't know, but what's happened over time is that

          6  people either leave their containers where they

          7  drink them, at work or in schools or wherever, or

          8  they put them in their recycling bins because now

          9  they've come under recycling programs that were

         10  enacted after the bottle bill. And unfortunately, we

         11  didn't address the bottle bill then, which we should

         12  have.  And so, they come back through other means,

         13  through a sort of small entrepreneurial business

         14  that has sprung up, bringing back these huge

         15  quantities of containers to our stores and our

         16  stores only and we've turned into redemption centers

         17  instead of customer service centers, which is

         18  something we could have tolerated.  So these new

         19  containers will come back to the grocery stores. The

         20  customer won't bring them back.

         21                 It was pointed out to you that more

         22  and more beverages are drunk away from home and

         23  that's part of the reason why they won't come back

         24  and customers will lose their nickels but they'll

         25  still come back because they'll be scavenged or, and
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          2  this is something we're very concerned about based

          3  on the Maine experience, there's going to be a huge

          4  increase in fraud because those containers are going

          5  to be labeled "deposit in New York".  But we've got

          6  five or six, I forgot to look at my map if Ohio

          7  borders New York, we've got six bordering states and

          8  those, if Maine is any example, those containers

          9  stamped "deposit in New York" will be redeemable in

         10  New York and some folks are going to think that

         11  that's a way to capture some nickels.  And I believe

         12  Maine's experience was that most of those new

         13  nickels were, in fact, paid out because of these

         14  huge overredemptions, way more than those containers

         15  were ever sold in the State of Maine, and we expect

         16  the same thing to happen here.  So they will come

         17  back to grocery stores, creating brand new storage

         18  problems, brand new sorting problems, accounting

         19  problems, collecting problems and transportation

         20  problems, because it's a different system, as you've

         21  also heard, for these new beverages than for the

         22  existing soda and beer which is controlled.

         23                 At the same time, in our view, it

         24  will not help recycling programs.  The way we look

         25  at this, the current bottle law and expanding, in
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          2  fact, robs curbside of the valuable materials.  I

          3  heard disagreement with that, but it's -- the

          4  expansion materials, I was told again by a retailer

          5  in Maine yesterday, are largely PET, it's not glass.

          6    I know glass is problematic, but most of what the

          7  expansion containers are made of is PET, very little

          8  glass.

          9                 Let me just quote to you from the

         10  Business Council's testimony on the bills up in

         11  Albany.  They did a bit of research and what they

         12  said was most beverage bottles that will be affected

         13  by an expanded bill are made from PET which is true,

         14  which has a current average market value of $55 per

         15  ton.  Aluminum cans, which are used for some non

         16  carbonated beverages that would also be captured by

         17  the expanded bottle bill, have a current market

         18  value of 58 cents per pound.  In contrast,

         19  newsprint, a major component of municipal recycling

         20  programs has a current average market value of just

         21  550 per ton, one- tenth the value of PET.  As a

         22  result, this bill would reduce the average per ton

         23  recovery value of the municipal recycling stream.

         24                 It seems to me we should be putting

         25  our joint energy into enriching the community -- the
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          2  municipal recycling stream, not depriving it of

          3  materials that do, in fact, have value.  And another

          4  idea just to put on the table, the IBO, who you also

          5  heard from in its refuse and recycling comparing the

          6  cost report pointed out that -- they were talking

          7  about the differential cost between recycling and

          8  refuse collection, that the main reason for the

          9  higher cost of recycling is that a truck on average

         10  picks up less recycling than refuse, that as the

         11  amount of recyclables diverted from regular refuse

         12  increase, the incremental cost for recycling has

         13  decreased and a greater volume of recycling and

         14  higher collection productivity would drive the

         15  incremental cost down toward zero.  So I have a hard

         16  time understanding why we're trying to take away

         17  from curbside when we could, in fact, be adding to

         18  it and we might get to a point where it becomes a

         19  profitable venture.

         20                 I just want to give a short

         21  commercial. Playing a small but, we hope, helpful

         22  role in this whole notion of putting our energy into

         23  enhancing curbside recycling, FIA members are in the

         24  process of collaborating with the Department of

         25  Sanitation.  Maybe you saw these. Most of our
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          2  members distributed these flyers which announce the

          3  return to full scale recycling in New York City,

          4  what you could put where and how to divide it up and

          5  all of that.

          6  And now you know, we've gone to clear bags.  So

          7  we're just in the process of getting these out to

          8  stores where the clear bags will be promoted.  So

          9  we're trying to work with the City to get that word

         10  out so that we don't think of this as trash and

         11  diverting -- you know, we're going to save money

         12  because it's trash and now we'll take it back, but

         13  rather, these are recyclables.  They should go in

         14  the recycling bin.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Are the clear

         16  bags going to be -- are they recyclable?

         17                 MS. BRODHAGEN:  Are what?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  The clear bags,

         19  are they recyclable?

         20                 MS. BRODHAGEN:  The clear bags

         21  themselves?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Yes.

         23                 MS. BRODHAGEN:  You're going to have

         24  to ask the City about that.  That's what the City is

         25  requiring.  If you don't have a bin, it has to go in
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          2  a clear bag.  It's the collection --

          3                 So, we would agree that the bottle

          4  law needs revisiting, but we would revisit it in a

          5  fairly different way, as you can imagine.  Expanding

          6  the bottle law creates problems, it doesn't solve

          7  them.  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Mr. Koppell.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  It's always

         10  interesting to see my old friends.  It's a little

         11  bit like, you know, we're former enemies.  Like the

         12  Japanese military and the American military, they're

         13  now friends.  When they go to reunions it's almost

         14  like we've been such adversaries so long we've

         15  become friends.  I miss Mr. Rogers, who is usually

         16  here for the food industry.  I don't know if he's

         17  still working for them.  You can tell him I missed

         18  him today.

         19                 In any event, I am sympathetic to

         20  some of the problems of the retailers, as I said

         21  before.  One of the provisions of this bill is to

         22  permit local enforcement of some of the provisions

         23  of the bottle bill.  And I'm wondering whether any

         24  of you have, would support or have supported

         25  expansion of local enforcement because you claim
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          2  that you're the only ones who are following the law,

          3  so you wouldn't be worried about enforcement and

          4  maybe local enforcement would force some of these

          5  other people who aren't following the law to comply,

          6  which would take some of the burden from you.

          7  Anybody want to answer that?  So I'm wondering

          8  whether you would support expansion of enforcement

          9  efforts, which are very poor right now, by DEC to

         10  local enforcement, which I would support as a member

         11  of local government.

         12                 MR. OBEROSLER:  We have many times

         13  given a list of retailers that refer their customers

         14  to Pathmark to redeem their bottles, that sell these

         15  beverages.  And unfortunately, DEC is overtaxed with

         16  resources and can't do it.  I'm not sure how much

         17  availability resources there are with local law

         18  enforcement to do the same thing since it's pretty

         19  low on the scale.  Law enforcement would have to

         20  speak for that.  But we have not been able to get a

         21  lot of support in that area.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I would

         23  recommend that you -- we do have a very active

         24  consumer agency in New York City and I think they

         25  would -- and they do enforce all kinds of laws, as

                                                            74

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  you know, weights and measures and things like that.

          3    I would encourage you to support local

          4  enforcement.

          5                 The second thing is that the bill in

          6  Albany encourages the creation of recycling centers,

          7  which I know the industry is, generally speaking, in

          8  favor of.  Why don't you do more to get -- to

          9  encourage these recycling centers to open so that

         10  some of the burden would be taken off your stores?

         11  I know that, for instance, in We Can, which was a

         12  big Manhattan operation, took in lots and lots -- I

         13  mean a lot of these homeless people like going to We

         14  Can because they were welcome there.  They're not

         15  welcome in your stores.

         16                 MR. OBEROSLER:  We would welcome

         17  working with any group that wants to set up

         18  recycling centers in the City.  We would be more

         19  than happy to work with them and help them in any

         20  way we can.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  But you

         22  ought to see that this legislation encourages

         23  recycling centers to open and that should be of help

         24  to you.

         25                 MR. OBEROSLER:  Recycling centers

                                                            75

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  would certainly be a plus as well as back to your

          3  first point, retailers, where there's a lot of

          4  signage -- as you're aware in stores, if you sell

          5  bottles and soda in redeemable bottles now, those

          6  stores should post "We gladly and properly redeem

          7  all bottles."  The only one they're coming to is us.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  No.  I

          9  agree.  I couldn't agree with you more on that

         10  point.

         11                 I had a question on the PET issue.

         12  You say that PET -- your numbers are a little

         13  confusing because you had per ton and per pound, but

         14  are you saying that the PET   -- those are the

         15  plastic, what we call plastic beverage containers,

         16  are you saying that those, there is a market for

         17  those, for the returned ones?  There is a market for

         18  that? Well, then if there's a market for that, why

         19  wouldn't the industry be happy about that coming

         20  back from the returnable container law?

         21                 MS. BRODHAGEN:  Remember, we're not

         22  the industry that -- they only come through us.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I see.  But

         24  you would think that maybe the soda people would be

         25  happy about expanding it to PET containers if the
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          2  return containers are valuable for them.

          3                 MS. BRODHAGEN:  I don't think so, but

          4  you'll have to ask them.  But in our case, you know,

          5  we -- there is nothing about the bottle bill that's

          6  profitable for us.  We pass through the nickel, we

          7  pass through the container.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  The last

          9  question I would ask is you seem to have some

         10  knowledge of what's happening in Maine.  You talked

         11  about Maine.  Well, Maine has expanded the bottle

         12  bill and it seems to work there.  If it works there,

         13  why wouldn't it work here?

         14                 MS. BRODHAGEN:  If you asked our

         15  members, they would tell you it doesn't work there.

         16  They've had, as I say, first of all, huge problems

         17  with overredemption of the expansion containers.

         18  These are containers that don't know how to get

         19  home.  That's part of the problem.  The beer and

         20  soda is delivered -- it's bottled and delivered

         21  locally and it's delivered to the store and it's

         22  picked up from the store.  Even when there's a third

         23  party, the allocation of it is pretty easy to figure

         24  out, which has to be done because that third party

         25  has to deal with both ends.
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          2                 Now you're talking about national

          3  manufacturers, and bottles and cans, bottles mostly,

          4  will be traveling all over the place.  And they come

          5  to, very often to regional distribution centers and

          6  then go out to stores. That's why they won't be

          7  specially labeled.  They'll be -- redeemable in New

          8  York will go all over the country, certainly all

          9  over the northeast.  To take that bottle, an apple

         10  juice bottle, let's say, or something, it's now got

         11  to travel this long circuitous route to get back

         12  home.  Kevin Dately (phonetic), who works for

         13  Northridge Associates, he testified at your first

         14  hearing, you might remember.  He was unable to come

         15  today.  He's done a lot of research on this stuff

         16  and he's not here.  I wish he was because he's the

         17  person who has both a blend of the knowledge of the

         18  numbers and the business issues as well as the

         19  environmental issues. But he estimates that the cost

         20  of recycling, returning containers under that

         21  scenario, is far and away more expensive than it is

         22  to do it through curbside.  It just -- it doesn't

         23  make sense when you've got a container that can go

         24  from the store to home to the bin, that it should go

         25  from home to the store -- from the store to the home
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          2  to the store to the distribution center to the --

          3  it's not logical.  And that's part of the problem,

          4  it's very expensive.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, I have

          6  some answers but I don't want to get into a debate.

          7  Let me just say that, briefly, Mr. Chairman, that

          8  when D'Agostino's unfortunately closed their store

          9  in Riverdale, not one single person came to me and

         10  said they were glad it was closed because the people

         11  who were returning the beverage containers weren't

         12  gathering there.  They were all very unhappy that

         13  D'Agostino's closed.  I hope that Bronx store is the

         14  one on Broadway and 240th Street, the one you

         15  mentioned.  Is that true?  Which is it?  We're

         16  looking forward to it.

         17                 MS. MOORE:  If I could just add one

         18  more thing.  We would be delighted to have

         19  enforcement at the local level.  I have store

         20  managers here as well that will call me frequently

         21  and tell me that certain stores are not redeeming.

         22  Most of them, drugstores and other small markets,

         23  and that we really need help in enforcement. There's

         24  a great deal of fear that those enforcement dollars

         25  would not be forthcoming from any municipality or
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          2  even from Albany.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, I

          4  would be happy to urge that as well with the Albany

          5  people like DiNapoli, and I'd also be happy to

          6  arrange a meeting with Gretchen Dykstra to discuss

          7  local enforcement, because I do feel sympathy for

          8  those stores that have been trying to comply.  And

          9  the overredemption is a problem for those stores.  I

         10  acknowledge that.  That's why the recycling centers

         11  offer some hope, I would think, of some relief and

         12  local enforcement would as well.  And by the way,

         13  there may not be many people, but I do take them

         14  back to the drugstores and the local delis.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Ms. Brodhagen,

         16  you raised an interesting point which I started to

         17  contemplate when the gentleman from Krasdale started

         18  to testify because you have a vision in your mind

         19  that your average supermarket sits there and here

         20  comes the Pepsi truck and here comes the Heinnekin

         21  truck and Budweiser truck comes to the store,

         22  delivers its product in its truck and then takes the

         23  item away.  But a lot of things come into the

         24  stores, in the smaller stores not that way but

         25  through like a larger truck that brings all various
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          2  items.  So they might bring a box of apple juice,

          3  they might bring a box of water.  Is that the way it

          4  works?

          5                 MS. BRODHAGEN:  These guys know more

          6  than I do, but two ways.  Some is called DSD, direct

          7  store delivery, and there's a lot of products that

          8  are -- bread, you know, things that the guy actually

          9  brings it in, and the rest comes on a -- from the

         10  warehouse.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  From the

         12  warehouse of the supermarket or say like Krasdale,

         13  which is sort of a regional distributor, to local

         14  stores, correct?

         15                 MS. BRODHAGEN:  It could.  Some

         16  chains still own their own warehouses and so it

         17  comes from their own. Although increasingly, chains

         18  have gone to outside warehouses.  So Mitch, for

         19  example, works at the wholesale level and supplies

         20  stores with all those products.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  All various

         22  items.

         23                 MS. BRODHAGEN:  That's right, that's

         24  right.

         25  So there's lots of different kinds of deliveries.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  So if the --

          3  say, for instance the water company delivers in a

          4  separate truck, how the item gets out is easily

          5  contemplatable but if the one truck brings 700

          6  different items, that's your point, then how does

          7  that one apple juice can get back to the

          8  manufacturer.  Okay.

          9                 MS. BRODHAGEN:  Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  I wanted to ask

         11  you about that.

         12                 MS. BRODHAGEN:  We're going to have

         13  to develop a system to do it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Okay.  Just

         15  lastly, the increase in the fee for returning the

         16  item, you said doesn't really alleviate the problem.

         17                 MS. MOORE:  It's not enough.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  It's not

         19  enough?

         20                 MS. MOORE:  No.  It's 3.6 cents.  We

         21  lost 3.6 cents every time we handle a container at

         22  this point.  So if you add another two, two and a

         23  half or another penny and a half, you're still

         24  losing two and a -- over two cents every time you

         25  handle a container.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  So what does it

          3  cost? Every time you handle one and send it back,

          4  how much does it cost you?

          5                 MS. MOORE:  It would be about five

          6  and a half cents.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Five and a half

          8  cents. So even the --

          9                 MS. MOORE:  Every time.  And then we

         10  deduct the handling fee which is two cents.  Some of

         11  that handling fee also goes to the third party that

         12  we hire.  So it's -- we have calculated that it's

         13  3.6 cents we lose every time.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Net loss.

         15                 MS. MOORE:  Net loss.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  So the fee that

         17  would have to be paid to you per item to break even

         18  would be five and a half cents?  Five and a half

         19  cents.  And that's only the financial aspect, not

         20  the physical space aspect.

         21                 MS. MOORE:  Right.

         22                 MS. BRODHAGEN:  Yes.  Could I just

         23  say it a different way and, Bob, jump in if this is

         24  wrong, even if the bottle law management were no

         25  longer a loss, it's still -- it's going to take
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          2  space.  And A, we either don't have it, it just

          3  doesn't exist or you have to take space out of

          4  selling and convert it to redeeming.  So that's a

          5  much bigger loss.  So it's really more complicated

          6  than just the pennies, which is why when you've

          7  heard us testify over the last two years, we haven't

          8  asked for a higher handling fee. That's not really

          9  where we're coming from on this.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  All right.

         11  Thank you. Thank you for making your position clear.

         12    Thank you very much.

         13                 Our next panel is Mark Caserta from

         14  the New York League of Conservation Voters, Mark

         15  Vaccaro from the Citywide Recycling Authority --

         16  Advisory Board, I mean. Resa Dimino from the

         17  Grassroots Recycling Network and Omar Freilla from

         18  the Green Workers Cooperative.  As you get settled,

         19  I would just like to ask Council Member Serrano if

         20  he wanted to make a few remarks about the

         21  resolution, the zero waste resolution.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SERRANO:  Thank you,

         23  Chairman McMahon.  Unfortunately, I have to leave

         24  soon but I wanted to thank you and the Committee for

         25  supporting this resolution for zero waste.  I think
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          2  it's a really important resolution.  As our city

          3  continues to grow and recover and technology

          4  continues to grow in our city, so does our waste. So

          5  it's important that we move the discussion forward

          6  and that the Council be proactive in looking at

          7  different ways and different avenues to reduce the

          8  amount of waste in the waste stream to keep up with

          9  the increased amount of waste that we generate every

         10  day.  So once again, I just want to thank you,

         11  Chairman McMahon, and all of our colleagues who

         12  signed on, for being very proactive on this

         13  resolution. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Thank you,

         15  Council Member Serrano, and thank you for being part

         16  of this Committee and today's hearing, especially.

         17  Especially when there's such an interesting -- not

         18  as important, but certainly a very current issue

         19  next door.

         20                 Good afternoon, everyone.  Do you

         21  want to start, Mr. Caserta?  Why don't you start.

         22  You look ready.

         23                 MR. CASERTA:  I'm ready.  Okay.  I'm

         24  going to go quickly and then I'll let Resa sit

         25  because she doesn't have a chair.
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          2                 I'm Mark Caserta, New York City

          3  Policy and the Advocacy Director of the New York

          4  League of Conservation Voters.  I'm just going to

          5  say that the League is in favor of both resolutions,

          6  144 and 174.  Some of the things I've heard today,

          7  though, we certainly would urge the Council to look

          8  at the issue of enforcement of the current bottle

          9  bill. I think it's very important.

         10                 I'll share my own experiences.  I got

         11  a sandwich the other day across the street from our

         12  office and I got back to the office and looked at my

         13  soda can actually didn't have a deposit on it.  It

         14  was a can of Coke.  So it came from out of state and

         15  I was actually charged for it. If I get my way, I'm

         16  getting that nickel back. And the Duane Reade that's

         17  on the ground floor of our building actually sells

         18  soda at cut rate prices.  They actually don't take

         19  the cans back.  So there's obviously some things

         20  that have to be worked on.  I certainly hear the

         21  concerns of the retailers.

         22                 On 174, obviously, the issue we're

         23  looking at here in timing is the long term solid

         24  waste plan and trying to inject the issues of zero

         25  waste, long term 2024, into the solid waste plan.
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          2  With that, I'm going to turn it over to the real

          3  experts on the panel and give Resa a seat.  Thanks.

          4                 MS. DIMINO:  Hi.  Good afternoon.  My

          5  name is Resa Dimino.  I'm the President of the

          6  Grassroots Recycling Network, the Chair of the Bronx

          7  Solid Waste Advisory Board and a member of the

          8  steering committee of the New York City Waste

          9  Prevention Coalition.  I'm here today to encourage

         10  the Council to adopt both of the resolutions being

         11  heard today. I'll focus most of my comments on the

         12  zero waste resolution.

         13                 I've been working with Consumers

         14  Union/Consumers Policy Institution and a coalition

         15  of community- based and environmental organizations

         16  to create a zero waste plan for New York City.  Stay

         17  tuned for the release of the plan which presents an

         18  alternative approach that will enable the City to

         19  achieve the goals of the zero waste resolution by

         20  focusing on comprehensive recycling, composting,

         21  reuse and waste prevention instead of continuing on

         22  our current wasteful ways.

         23                 Zero waste is not a new idea but it's

         24  catching on in the U.S. And internationally.

         25  Communities in Australia and New Zealand have set
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          2  zero waste goals and developed action plans.  Closer

          3  to home, cities like San Francisco, Toronto, Seattle

          4  and rural areas like Carboro, North Carolina, have

          5  embraced zero waste goals and policies. Businesses

          6  like Xerox and Mad River Brewing are also striving

          7  for zero, recognizing the economic benefits of a

          8  zero waste system.

          9                 Why do we need zero waste?  While

         10  recycling and waste prevention programs have made

         11  some significant gains in the last 15- 20 years, in

         12  both New York City and nationally, it's clear that

         13  wasting is on the rise.  In 2001, the United States

         14  sent 3.2 million more tons of municipal waste to

         15  landfills and incinerators than it did in 1995, and

         16  that's despite the fact that we recycle 12 million

         17  more tons, recycled and composted 12 million more

         18  tons during that same period.  You've heard earlier

         19  today in discussions of the bottle bill that

         20  recycling rates for the materials that are even

         21  considered the most recyclable, aluminum and PET

         22  plastic, have been static or have dropped in the

         23  last five years.  And the waste that we see at the

         24  curb is really just the tip of a really enormous

         25  iceberg. For every ton of municipal waste that we
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          2  handle on the curb, there are 71 tons of

          3  manufacturing, mining, oil and gas exploration and

          4  other types of waste produced to create the products

          5  and packaging that become waste.

          6                 Even as curbside recycling programs

          7  get more efficient and capture more material,

          8  greater and greater amounts of non- recyclable

          9  products and packaging are entering the waste

         10  stream.  In short, the gains we've made through

         11  conventional recycling have, at best, reached a

         12  plateau and at worst begun to backslide.  To make a

         13  dent in the growing waste stream, we need to be more

         14  creative.  We need a more creative and comprehensive

         15  approach and zero waste is just that.  Indeed, the

         16  move to zero waste was born out of the concern of

         17  advocates, decision makers and planners who have

         18  watched these trends and realized that the

         19  conventional approaches we've tried for the last 20

         20  years aren't enough to deal with the mountains of

         21  waste that we generate.

         22                 Our current systems are based on the

         23  premise that waste is an inevitable burden that we

         24  must manage, and zero waste doesn't accept that

         25  premise but, rather, we assert that waste is a
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          2  byproduct of poor planning, bad design and

          3  inefficient markets.  Zero waste addresses these

          4  shortcomings through a comprehensive package of

          5  programs and policies that, in combination, design

          6  waste out of our system.

          7                 Simply put, zero waste is an

          8  ambitious goal that can spark the creativity and

          9  innovation that we need to solve our mounting waste

         10  problem.  It's a planning framework that seeks to

         11  create an economy where things and products are

         12  reused, repaired and recycled, an economy that

         13  minimizes and ultimately eliminates waste.  It's a

         14  whole system approach to redesigning the way that

         15  materials and resources flow through our economy to

         16  eliminate waste and inefficiency at all phases of a

         17  product's life cycle.  And it's the next industrial

         18  revolution, a system that goes beyond the three Rs,

         19  reduce, reuse, recycle, to address the three Es,

         20  efficiency, economics and ethics.  Ethics being

         21  important to New York City, since most of our waste

         22  gets exported and thrust on other communities.

         23                 But lastly, zero waste is an

         24  important investment in the local economy and the

         25  creation of local jobs to reclaim materials that
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          2  would otherwise become waste.

          3                 Now, for those who think zero waste

          4  is rather outlandish, I'll say zero waste isn't a

          5  literal target.  We recognize it may not be possible

          6  to eliminate every single item from the waste

          7  stream, but we won't know how far we can get unless

          8  we try.  If we don't try for zero, we'll continue to

          9  make only incremental progress to stem the tide of

         10  waste.

         11                 So in New York City and nationally,

         12  we have a choice to make.  We can continue to pay

         13  the rising environmental and economic costs of waste

         14  disposal.  We can send billions of dollars into

         15  holes into the ground in distant landfills and leave

         16  a toxic legacy for generations to come or we can

         17  choose zero waste.  When we choose zero waste we

         18  invest in local programs and infrastructure to

         19  reduce, reuse, recycle and compost our materials.

         20  Choosing zero waste offers an opportunity to keep

         21  those billions of dollars circulating in the City's

         22  economy to create jobs and economic opportunity for

         23  our residents.

         24                 The time for zero waste in New York

         25  City has come and if we act aggressively now we can
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          2  turn the tide and create a future without waste.

          3                 To speak briefly about the bottle

          4  bill, since you've heard a lot already, we'll keep

          5  it brief and just say this is an incredibly positive

          6  piece of solid waste policy because it achieves very

          7  high levels of recovery at no cost to the taxpayer.

          8  How could it be better?  Expanding the bottle bill

          9  to include non- carbonated drinks will help reduce

         10  waste and disposal costs to the City.  In addition,

         11  reclaiming those unclaimed deposits to finance

         12  recycling, reuse and waste prevention makes it a

         13  valuable tool in moving towards zero waste.

         14                 So for all those reasons, I urge you

         15  to support the Bigger Better Bottle Bill as well as

         16  the zero waste resolution.  Thank you.

         17                 MS. MARTINEZ:  Good afternoon,

         18  Council Member McMahon and members of the Committee.

         19    My name is Eve Martinez.  I serve as the co- chair

         20  of the Citywide Recycling Advisory Board, which was

         21  created by Local Law 19, another piece of

         22  legislation that pushed a very important ethic into

         23  the City's policy making system.  I offer this

         24  statement on behalf of the CRAB.  Our comments today

         25  focus on Resolution No. 174, the zero waste
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          2  resolution that's currently being considered by the

          3  City Council.  This resolution calls upon the City

          4  of New York to adopt a zero waste policy to be

          5  achieved in the long term with leadership,

          6  commitment and stabilized funding.  The CRAB is

          7  supporting this resolution and recommends that it be

          8  voted out of committee and put on the floor for a

          9  full vote as soon as possible in order to be

         10  included in all considerations for the upcoming 20-

         11  year solid waste management plan.

         12                 Zero waste or as close as we can get

         13  it is a concept that could drive a whole new

         14  planning process for resource management in New York

         15  City.

         16                 Zero waste dares to address difficult

         17  questions that New York City ought to be addressing

         18  in the 20- year solid waste management plan such as:

         19                 If we had to dispose of our waste

         20  within the city limits or within the State, for

         21  example, how would we do that?  Another question,

         22  how much property do we want to allocate to waste

         23  disposal and how do we distribute the burden or

         24  processing our waste fairly?  How much do disposal

         25  costs have to rise before zero waste begins to look
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          2  more feasible?  And finally, are we capable of

          3  modifying our unsustainable patterns of consumption

          4  and disposal or are we doomed to bury ourselves in

          5  the byproducts of our lifestyle?

          6                 These are very hard questions and

          7  very complicated issues, and there will always be

          8  waste.  But by deciding to act as if eliminating all

          9  the waste were possible, the City sets the bar high

         10  enough that even failure will have spectacular

         11  benefits.  It will not happen overnight and that is

         12  why we need to start with such a simple resolution.

         13  Zero waste is really more of a way of thinking about

         14  what we now call waste, which we use as a synonym

         15  word for garbage.  But waste is defined in my

         16  dictionary as "to use extravagantly, needlessly or

         17  without adequate result".  So most of what the City

         18  is paying to ship out of state as waste is not

         19  waste.  And what zero waste could do, and I'm sure

         20  you heard this joke before, is take the waste of our

         21  waste.  It can reduce the cost for waste disposal,

         22  it can create new jobs and industries.  Zero waste

         23  can really take a lot of lemons and probably open a

         24  whole chain of lemonade stands.

         25                 A zero waste agenda implemented under
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          2  Resolution No. 174 would include studying the

          3  composition of the waste stream and the origins of

          4  the waste; targeting many more materials for

          5  recycling, compost and reuse; building the municipal

          6  infrastructure to process these materials as locally

          7  as possible; developing markets for these materials;

          8  and educating and inspiring increased and better

          9  participation through outreach programs.

         10                 Many critics of zero waste say this

         11  is way too much to do just for the garbage.  But we

         12  know that there are valuable materials in the

         13  garbage.  There are toxic materials in the garbage

         14  but we haven't devised a mechanism for collecting

         15  that and we're dumping them in someone else's

         16  backyard.  And of course, there's 50% of the

         17  targeted materials that the City collects in its

         18  curbside recycling program in the garbage and those

         19  are marketable.  I do agree that there's a strong

         20  market for PET plastic.  There are many

         21  opportunities for zero waste success waiting to

         22  happen in New York City.

         23                 And of course, taking out the trash

         24  is getting more expensive.  And as the cost for

         25  disposal rises and available landfill space
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          2  diminishes, the City needs to have zero waste

          3  policies that we are seeing other cities implement,

          4  in place and operational in order to responsibly

          5  manage the waste stream.

          6                 Major changes in municipal operations

          7  often begin with legislation.  Local Law 19 and the

          8  State law closing Fresh Kills are the two precedents

          9  that apply to considering Resolution 174.  The

         10  legislation is crucial in that it determines future

         11  policy.  The City needs zero waste legislation in

         12  place now or the long- term planning process for the

         13  City's waste stream will be compromised by being

         14  obsolete almost as soon as it is developed.

         15                 Other cities are implementing zero

         16  waste policy and the CRAB believes New York City

         17  could benefit from very interesting programs upon

         18  which we could build. For instance, in Toronto, it's

         19  very analogous to ours. Following a decision to

         20  close the local landfill, Toronto embarked on an

         21  aggressive planning process co- led by its Mayor and

         22  its City Council to figure out what to do with

         23  Toronto's solid waste, and what they decided was

         24  that they would phase in a zero waste plan.  For

         25  year 2003, they would divert 30%; by 2006, they
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          2  would be diverting 60%; and 2010, they would be

          3  diverting 100%.  The City then proceeded to build

          4  the consensus about the effort to achieve these

          5  goals and they also, most importantly, designed a

          6  series of programs and systems and infrastructure to

          7  achieve that. And, of course, it regularly reports

          8  to the public about the progress towards these

          9  goals.  And New York City can do this, too.

         10                 A commitment to zero waste by the New

         11  York City Council sends a very strong message.  It

         12  reinvigorates the active participation of citizens

         13  and develops stronger communities.  It offers

         14  economic development opportunities in terms of jobs,

         15  manufacturing and retail.  It offers a commitment to

         16  the future and it lessens the impact of dumping our

         17  waste in other communities.

         18                 We are surrounded today by things

         19  that were unimaginable, not to mention impossible,

         20  100 years ago.  And for those of us who advocated

         21  for a recycling program when it didn't exist, and

         22  for those who advocated for the closure of Fresh

         23  Kills, I don't think that zero waste is any less

         24  doable and I urge the City Council to move the

         25  resolution forward and pass it.  Thank you.
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          2                 MR. FREILLA:  Good afternoon,

          3  Councilman McMahon and Councilman Koppell and to the

          4  gentleman from the Department of Sanitation.  I'd

          5  like to say good afternoon and thank you for the

          6  opportunity to speak here today.  My name is Omar

          7  Freilla.  I am the founder and Director of a new

          8  organization called Green Worker Cooperatives.  You

          9  may recognize the face from some of the toxic tours

         10  that we've gone on in the South Bronx, looking at a

         11  lot of the transfer stations.  I came here today to

         12  talk about the zero waste specifically, also

         13  supporting the Bigger Better Bottle Bill, but to

         14  speak specifically about zero waste from the

         15  perspective of zero waste of garbage but also from

         16  the perspective of creating jobs and from the

         17  perspective of the need for environmental justice.

         18                 Now, in the South Bronx we're

         19  inundated with polluting facilities.  We're

         20  inundated with waste transfer stations.  It's

         21  something that's well- known here in these chambers.

         22    It's something that's well- known citywide and

         23  it's something that we're certainly tired of having

         24  to deal with throughout the City, throughout low

         25  income neighborhoods and communities of color.  We'd
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          2  like to get to a point where we're not constantly

          3  offered the position of accepting jobs with a price

          4  of community health being sacrificed.

          5                 Our organization was created

          6  specifically to deal with that issue, to say that we

          7  can actually have jobs that don't kill the workers

          8  or the communities that they live in.  We can

          9  actually have jobs that are based on reusing and

         10  recycling, that are actually jobs that are

         11  democratically operated and controlled and where

         12  workers have a good say and have good benefits.

         13  That is something that we can actually reach for,

         14  and it's something that we're currently working on.

         15                 The very first, and I'd like to start

         16  with an example of just the kind of industry that

         17  can be created, but the very first business that

         18  we're looking to launch, and these are worker- owned

         19  businesses, is actually a building materials reuse

         20  center or deconstruction service, also, where we can

         21  actually go in and salvage building materials.  A

         22  building is about to go down.  There's absolutely no

         23  reason why the hard wood floors, the doors, the

         24  window frames, any of that, needs to wind up in a

         25  landfill.  It can be reused.  People are buying the
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          2  doors. Why not take a door out of a building that's

          3  about to get torn down an resell it as a door.  It's

          4  something that's very simple.  It doesn't take a lot

          5  of -- it doesn't take engineers to figure out.  It's

          6  not rocket science.  That is something that we're

          7  looking to actually move and create, and I would

          8  love to be able to see one open up by January of

          9  next year.

         10                 That is something that, however, is

         11  going to be extremely difficult because there is

         12  currently no support at the City level to make

         13  something like that happen and there's very little

         14  support to make industries like these happen because

         15  these are, by their nature, home grown industries

         16  that would come out of the City.  These aren't high

         17  profile, high profit margin industries that are

         18  waste management or some other large multi- national

         19  corporation or other are going to move into the City

         20  and look to set up, these are things that actually

         21  do need support.

         22                 You need to move a high volume of low

         23  value materials.  It takes financial support.  The

         24  cost of rent is extremely expensive in New York

         25  City; therefore, you need some sort of subsidy, some
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          2  sort of land that's available to make it happen.

          3  That means that the City would actually need to

          4  invest in supporting this kind of an industry,

          5  supporting a visionary industry, and it's the kind

          6  of industry -- we're talking about green

          7  manufacturing, jobs for working class people in

          8  places like the South Bronx that have the highest

          9  unemployment rates and the highest levels of poverty

         10  in New York City.  But this is a kind of industry

         11  that is new and is visionary, and it's the kind of

         12  industry that a zero waste resolution, if it's

         13  passed and becomes a law, would actually be able to

         14  create.  Because we're talking about not just

         15  dealing with the question of how do you pick up

         16  trash from the curb, how do you pick up recyclables

         17  and how do you deal with it, but where does it

         18  actually wind up going.  Does it go to -- does one

         19  truck from the Department of Sanitation wind up

         20  going to a transfer station?  That means two truck

         21  trips.  And then you have a long haul tractor

         22  trailer coming in and then leaving that facility.

         23  That's four truck trips total that goes to some

         24  other poor low income community.  It's a community

         25  of color in Virginia or Pennsylvania that just has
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          2  an endless stream of environmental racism and

          3  classism issues just attached to it from top to

          4  bottom.  Or do you wind up creating industries that

          5  can reduce the number of truck trips because they're

          6  not exporting out of state, they're dealing with

          7  needs that are local in New York City, that are

          8  hiring people from the neighborhoods that surround

          9  them.

         10                 There are two different ways of

         11  dealing with the issue of waste.  One sees it as

         12  something that is reprehensible and cannot be dealt

         13  with and needs to be exported and its powerless

         14  communities that wind up getting shafted in the

         15  process, or do you see it as a resource where you

         16  can actually completely alter the way that business

         17  is done, really focus on the clean fuels, on designs

         18  that don't impact communities negatively and really

         19  create jobs in the process.  They're two different

         20  approaches.

         21                 I would really ask that this

         22  committee push on the Speaker to really bring this

         23  issue to a head and bring this up for discussion to

         24  the entire Council before it's too late so that we

         25  can actually have our resolution that's passed that
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          2  says that New York City is going to move towards

          3  zero waste.

          4                 We're going to have Bigger Better

          5  Bottle Bills that create funding for it and we can

          6  actually move in a direction that supports

          7  environmental justice so that no one community winds

          8  up bearing the burden of handling the rest of the

          9  City's trash, and we can actually have an equal

         10  distribution of facilities and reuse centers that

         11  are handling each of the borough's waste and really

         12  doing it in a way that completely revolutionizes the

         13  way that these materials are handled and sees them

         14  as resources.

         15  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Thank you very

         17  much. Thank you.  Just so you know, in our budget

         18  response we requested a $2 million restoration,

         19  which was cut, for the waste prevention program and

         20  it was not restored and is now on the list of budget

         21  restorations to be made by the Council.  So you can

         22  help me help that program by reaching out to all the

         23  other Council members in the City and letting them

         24  know that it's very important.

         25                 Resa, it's very nice to see you
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          2  again. You're no longer with the Borough President's

          3  office, but it's a pleasure to have you here.  I say

          4  this very friendly, it's his loss and the

          5  environmental community's gain to have you out doing

          6  that.  We thank you very much and we look forward to

          7  working with you.  Thank you.

          8                 Next is Luis Salcedo from the

          9  National Supermarkets Association, John Steele from

         10  the National Soft Drink Association and Michael

         11  Sobol from the Empire -- he's C licensee from the

         12  Empire Beer Association.

         13                 MR. SALCEDO:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman

         14  and Mr. Koppell for allowing us the opportunity to

         15  be here.  My name is Luis Salcedo and I am from the

         16  National Supermarket Association, representing 400

         17  local supermarkets known as independent

         18  supermarkets.  I don't have a written testimony

         19  because I happen to be, live in the problems, the

         20  issues that concerning this expanded bill.  With the

         21  current bill we already have major problems.

         22                 What I do, I actually take notes on

         23  some of the other testimonies in favor or opposed to

         24  this legislation.  And I saw some interesting -- I

         25  heard some interesting things today, including first
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          2  from the IBO witness as to the fact that they could

          3  not verify the information that they provided to you

          4  when the Chairman asked the question.  I also heard,

          5  for example, including Councilman Koppell and other

          6  witnesses, how nicely they put it, that there was no

          7  way that the people that are opposing this bill will

          8  be convinced today.  I think we can say the same

          9  thing exactly about Councilman Koppell and other

         10  witnesses, that they are not willing to understand

         11  our position either.  And I think the reason is

         12  basically because they are not at the store level

         13  every day as we are. I make notes on different

         14  testimonies and I see the enforcement issues.  It

         15  doesn't have to be enforced with us because we are

         16  the people providing the services, the only one.  So

         17  how do I enforce the issue?  And I know the store,

         18  if you came to my store with a bag of bottles, how

         19  do I enforce that?  Do I tell them call the police

         20  so they can check if Rite Aid is receiving the

         21  bottles?  So I don't know how they can enforce that.

         22    I don't see any -- and the reason for us, it does

         23  not exist because we are the one taking the bottles,

         24  the reason for which we overredeem.

         25                 And all our colleagues' testimony --
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          2  Pathmark, who happen to be fortunate enough to have

          3  large store, yet they have a big problem.  Our

          4  stores, we have a very, very amount of space.  We

          5  are constantly harassed by state inspectors, city

          6  inspector, and I would say it's rightfully so,

          7  because if we do have dirty containers with juices

          8  and other liquids material in it, and they're next

          9  to items that we have for sale, food items, they are

         10  rightfully saying that we should not have it because

         11  it creates a hassle and creates a problem, a health

         12  problem for consumers.  But how do we deal with it

         13  if we're being victimized and harassed with the fact

         14  that we have to be the only one accepting containers

         15  that are sold throughout the cities and smaller

         16  stores, pharmacies and all over the place?

         17                 We also hear the issue of some of the

         18  witnesses that the consumer, for whom we often hear

         19  these people testifying about consumers' rights, the

         20  bottom line consumer who's now is going to

         21  supposedly pay with this new amendment legislation

         22  eight and a half cents deposit.  For anyone here to

         23  think that that's not going to be a burden to the

         24  majority of the consumers that at least are in the

         25  store that we serve, which are throughout the inner
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          2  cities, it is absurd to think that that is not going

          3  to be a burden to these people.  And I often hear

          4  the same people, which I think is a contradiction,

          5  defending, they're doing it for the consumer,

          6  they're doing it for this, they're doing it for

          7  that.

          8                 The same issue happens with

          9  environmental. They often contradicting themselves.

         10  They want the landfills closed, but they don't want

         11  burning plants, sophisticated new burning plants

         12  that are being used in the middle of London and

         13  other European cities and in the United States.

         14                 The issue of deposit.  We have, as

         15  you know, they stated that only 11 states in the

         16  nation have deposit law.  I just came back from

         17  Florida.  Always have Florid as an example.

         18  Beautiful, clean.  They don't have deposit. They

         19  don't have deposit in Florida.

         20                 Some of our members -- as a matter of

         21  fact, up to 25 already moving to other states

         22  including South Carolina and Florida because we are

         23  simply being overregulated.  Everything comes to us.

         24    We revitalize neighborhoods that were abandoned by

         25  big companies and everything now, everything seem to
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          2  be so beautiful.  As they said, the grass always

          3  looks greener on the other side, so we now see all

          4  these beautiful stores and everything is coming to

          5  us.

          6                 We had to pay for everything, we have

          7  to take care of everything.  At the same token, we

          8  get also attack very often, and I'm sure that

          9  Councilman Koppell and the Chairman know this, very

         10  often we hear in the news that our stores are not

         11  clean, that our stores are high priced, that our

         12  stores are everything.  So there is a lot of

         13  contradiction here and everything falls on our

         14  shoulder.

         15                 Our group, which I'm very, very proud

         16  to say quite a few of them, I appreciate it, took

         17  the time from running the store to be here with us.

         18                 It is basically, with about 400

         19  store, with 95% of them in the metropolitan area,

         20  are really the true victims here of what is going on

         21  with this bill.  And again, for us money is not the

         22  issue because if we get the three and a half cents,

         23  which is not going to help us, but then we get an

         24  inspector who comes up and gives us a fine of $300,

         25  a thousand dollars, where are we going?   We get the

                                                            108

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  three and a half cents that in fact with labor only

          3  issues is not enough.  So we don't really care for

          4  any price to be added as a handling fee to the bill.

          5                 It does not help us, it only creates

          6  a lot of problem for us.  It creates problems for

          7  the consumer because the more it is increased, in

          8  our area particularly, the more of a burden it is

          9  going to be to the so- called people that we always

         10  claim to defend, which is the one at the lower end

         11  of society.  In my group particularly we represent

         12  so many of those people.

         13                 Our organization, we do a lot of

         14  things for our community, for our people.  One of

         15  the proudest things that we do, we have a

         16  scholarship foundation which, on July 22nd I'll

         17  invite anyone here to come to Terrace in the Park

         18  and see what we do and see the faces of the people

         19  that we provide these scholarship grants, that we do

         20  through working in the community and giving back to

         21  the community.  We often, often, very, very often,

         22  not only on this legislation but on many others,

         23  become the victims of what is going on here.

         24                 With all due respect, and I'm

         25  surprised and proud that you do take your bottles
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          2  back to the store, but that is not the case with 99%

          3  of people who live in the upper class, in areas of

          4  the City.  It all goes down to our neighborhood and

          5  to our stores and even to D'Agostino.  We often have

          6  to call the police because we have violent people

          7  who do not understand that I'm given a right with

          8  this bill to only take 240 or 72.  And if that

          9  person comes in with 240, I say, well, I'll take 72.

         10    What prevents that person from going out and

         11  coming back in five minutes and I have to take

         12  another 72?  And we spend the day doing those

         13  things.

         14                 So I think there is a lot of

         15  controversy in the testimony of the people in favor

         16  of this program.  I think their own testimony very

         17  often contradicts itself and I think that

         18  consideration should be given to the reality of

         19  this.

         20                 You talk about redemption center

         21  which we basically favor it.  What is the reality of

         22  putting a redemption center every half a mile in the

         23  City?  Who's going to create it?  How much is it

         24  going to cost?  These are all the things -- and it's

         25  very easy to come here for a few minutes with the
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          2  written testimony or whatever and read it and it

          3  looks great on paper, but when you go out there and

          4  live on a daily basis, the agony of the situation,

          5  the problem, the fights, the police calling that we

          6  have to deal with, then you really know what's going

          7  on.

          8                 And I invite, and I know you have

          9  said you have done so, I'll invite anyone to visit a

         10  few of our stores in which I can show you not only

         11  how nicely and clean and healthful we are, but also

         12  to show you the simple fact, this is not a dream.

         13  The simple fact that we do not, we do not have the

         14  space to deal with these problems.

         15                 So I appreciate again the opportunity

         16  to come here again, and I also want to thank my

         17  group for taking the time to come here in support of

         18  our position.  Thank you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Thank you very

         20  much. Good to see you again.  Mr. Sobol?

         21                 MR. SOBOL:  Hi.  How are you?  My

         22  name is Mike Sobol.  I'm not a City resident.  I'm

         23  an owner of what's called a C licensee.  And what a

         24  C licensee is in the liquor business is a

         25  retail/wholesale operation.  In New York City we
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          2  have over 60 stores.  I'm on the outskirts of the

          3  City.  I'm in a little town called Inwood.  I clean

          4  up the beach in Rockaway every year.

          5                 I basically believe that the

          6  redemption bill that we have now needs fixing.  The

          7  redemption bill that Tom DiNapoli proposed is

          8  halfway there.  I believe that also the small

          9  bodegas, the small supermarkets have a very serious

         10  health problem, a condition that we can help with

         11  our recommendations to Albany.

         12                 The basic problem right now we face

         13  today to make this law succeed is economics.  No

         14  longer does two and a half cents pay my bill.  If

         15  you would look at page 7 of the presentation I gave

         16  you, gentlemen, I redeem over 400% in a 35 by 40

         17  foot room, which is a lot smaller than any

         18  supermarket, and that is of Budweiser alone.  That's

         19  it. Yes, it is.  Where's the nickel?  Page 7.  I

         20  don't want to go through the whole process, but

         21  you've only heard a bit of the story about the

         22  complaints.  So I'm going to try to solve them for

         23  you.  All right.

         24                 Over a year through my store,

         25  3,360,395 units go through that can be put through
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          2  reverse vending machines. I would estimate to say

          3  there's another 500,000 bottles that don't go

          4  through the reverse vending machine that has to be

          5  packaged.  This is a very expensive proposition.  I

          6  have rent, I have insurance, I have an exterminator

          7  and I do have a payroll.  Just because you have

          8  reverse vending machines   -- I don't know how many

          9  times I can tell you, Mr. Koppell, that you've been

         10  at D'Agostino and you've heard "We need someone at

         11  the vending machines".  The vending machines just

         12  does not release employment.  All right.  We have

         13  equipment -- well, if they did, that's what would

         14  happen.  Go to Pathmark, see what happens there.

         15                 The heat, the equipment, the storage,

         16  the lease payment and bags come to $84,000 a year.

         17  On a three-thousand 360,000 units and 39 -- 395

         18  units, I get a penny a unit.  I net 33,603.94 and I

         19  recognize a loss of 50,596.06.

         20                 Our recommendations to Albany was to

         21  increase the handling fee, to make technology

         22  accessible to everyone, to reclaim the escheats

         23  which in every other country in this land has been

         24  the law of the land, not a subsidy to beer companies

         25  or beverage companies, to keep the prices lower.
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          2  Again, I'd like to repeat, the inner city, bodegas,

          3  the D'Agostinos, all the supermarkets have a

          4  problem.  That's why we suggested redemption

          5  centers.  But redemption centers can only work in

          6  the City if they're funded by the escheats or some

          7  sort of State funding and being given access to

          8  technology.

          9                 I don't know about the people in the

         10  food industry, I know what happens in the beer

         11  industry.  We are at the hands of the distributors

         12  who make the decisions that control our lives.  We

         13  are the ones that are doing the work. Again, I'm

         14  saying I emphasize with the supermarkets, but I

         15  don't know, Stop 'N Shop down the block from me does

         16  not give out $3,500 in nickels a day and I do.

         17  Pathmark, which closed on Rockaway Turnpike, did not

         18  give out a thousand dollars a day.  I give three

         19  times that amount.

         20                 In New York City, we sell 50% of the

         21  beverages and we take back 80% of the empties.  The

         22  empty bill is slowly but surely putting my industry

         23  out of business because of the controls of the

         24  bottlers and the franchise right of wholesalers.  We

         25  are all, in this room, at the mercy of Coca Cola,
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          2  Budweiser, Pepsi- Cola and all the bottlers in this

          3  State who are taking the nickels, putting it in

          4  their pockets and saying "adios".

          5                 Is the bottle bill a good bill?

          6  Well, I'll tell you, I think it is.  It should be

          7  expanded.  I believe it should be expanded.  So do

          8  120 guys in Nassau and Suffolk County and 60 guys in

          9  New York City plus people in Westchester, the

         10  capital region and Buffalo.  We have no problem

         11  taking the empties back.  We believe in redemption

         12  centers, but we need strict enforcement to protect

         13  the people like the bodegas and the supermarkets,

         14  that they are protected by doing the State's work.

         15  That's what's missing in the original bottle bill.

         16  That's what's missing in Tom DiNapoli's bottle bill.

         17  All right.

         18                 I'd like to thank you for this time.

         19  If you have any questions, I can go on for hours.

         20  Because I will tell you, that there's no one in the

         21  State that's been in a redemption center for 20

         22  years, seven days a week, like I have.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Just what is

         24  your business exactly, Mr. Sobol?

         25                 MR. SOBOL:  We are -- we were created
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          2  right after Prohibition by the State of New York.

          3  We're an unprotected industry that's being

          4  disseminated.  It's called a C licensee.  We are

          5  licensed retailers and wholesalers. Basically, we

          6  are wholesalers with the right to retail beverages,

          7  only soda and beer.  So the only other thing we can

          8  do is take bottles back.  I cannot say to a customer

          9  take it down the block.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  So you have

         11  like a store that's like, I would call it a beer

         12  distributor.

         13                 MR. SOBOL:  That's me.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  I can go in and

         15  buy a couple cases of this and that.

         16                 MR. SOBOL:  That's me.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Okay.  Just so

         18  I understood.

         19                 MR. SOBOL:  Thank you for your time.

         20                 MR. STEELE:  Mr. Chairman, Council

         21  Member Koppell, my name is John Steele.  I represent

         22  the National Soft Drink Association and the beverage

         23  soft drink distributors and manufacturers here in

         24  New York.

         25                 One thing I want to make clear, in
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          2  all the disagreement that's gone on in the

          3  testimony, is we all share a commitment to

          4  recycling.  Where we disagree is in the method.  For

          5  example, in the soft drink industry, everything that

          6  we sell is in recyclable containers:  Glass, PET,

          7  aluminum.  It is all recyclable.  We are committed

          8  to recycling and at another time I'll be happy to

          9  sit down with the both of you and the entire

         10  Committee and go over examples into how in

         11  localities we have supported recycling programs well

         12  beyond just beverage containers.

         13                 Specifically to this resolution, we

         14  respectfully oppose it and ask that you do the same.

         15    The bottom line on a couple of points.  On the

         16  escheat.  The nickels are needed by the beverage

         17  distributors.  It is enormously expensive to operate

         18  as a soft drink company in New York State/New York

         19  City because of the expenses involved in the bottle

         20  bill.  All things being equal, Connecticut, New

         21  Jersey and New York, it's more expensive in New York

         22  because of the bottle bill.  So those nickels are

         23  needed.  They are not a windfall.  We need those to

         24  be able to cover the overhead related to the bottle

         25  bill.
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          2                 And then my final point is

          3  overredemption.  I cannot overstate what will happen

          4  if the State expands the bottle bill.  New York will

          5  become the illegal redemption center for New Jersey,

          6  Pennsylvania and other surrounding states.  People

          7  will pour into the state to redeem containers they

          8  didn't buy here but leave with the nickel.

          9                 I'm going to offer two states which

         10  are instructive in terms of this issue.  Maine has

         11  been presented numerous times over the course of

         12  this afternoon. When Maine expanded its bottle bill

         13  years ago, the State seized the unclaimed.  That

         14  wasn't for long because of the overredemption.  The

         15  State threw its hands up and said you can have it.

         16  We're not going to take the unclaimed anymore, it's

         17  all yours.  So, for example, in southern Maine,

         18  those beverage distributors are looking at 150% plus

         19  overredemption because of people pouring in from out

         20  of state to redeem containers they didn't buy there.

         21

         22                 And in Massachusetts, which was

         23  referenced and the fact that the State has not

         24  expanded its bottle bill, the Legislature has chosen

         25  not to do that on its merits.  Governor Romney does
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          2  want the expanded bottle bill; however, right now in

          3  Massachusetts there are serious considerations given

          4  to looking at the bottle bill, its efficacy now.  Is

          5  it what the State should continue to do in the

          6  future or look at phasing it out for enhanced

          7  curbside and dropoff.  What you have in

          8  Massachusetts, and this is my final point, is bottle

          9  bill fatigue.  Because Massachusetts has extensive

         10  curbside and dropoff recycling, citizens in that

         11  state are now no longer choosing to redeem

         12  containers at the store.  Instead, they are leaving

         13  them at the curbside or the dropoff.  Therefore,

         14  redemption rates have decreased.  And what the State

         15  is now looking at is the idea of reconsidering the

         16  bottle bill, is that the best thing for

         17  Massachusetts to have in the future.

         18                 I appreciate your time and thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Mr. Steele, let

         20  me ask you a question.  Who's got the nickel?  And I

         21  ask that -- I don't mean to put you on the spot, but

         22  this -- you know, we talked about -- I know Mario

         23  Cuomo started this and when I worked in Albany as an

         24  aide everybody was talking about chasing the nickel.

         25  And the IBO, were you here when they testified?
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          2  They testified as to numbers which was sort of a

          3  rehashing of numbers that have been out there which

          4  says basically that the State, in New York State

          5  somewhere between 50 and $150 million is out there

          6  in unclaimed nickels per year and that the bottling

          7  industry and the distribution industry receives a

          8  windfall.  What does your industry say to that?

          9                 MR. STEELE:  It's not a windfall.

         10  This is enormously burdensome for the industry,

         11  without a doubt. Two states seized the unclaimed

         12  deposits, Massachusetts and Michigan.  The other

         13  states do not, understanding the burden they have

         14  imposed on the beverage industry.  So absolutely,

         15  the industry needs those nickels in New York State.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  What is the

         17  amount that goes unclaimed?  Does the industry have

         18   --

         19                 MR. STEELE:  In New York State?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  In New York

         21  State.

         22                 MR. STEELE:  I don't have that

         23  number. That's proprietary in terms of the overhead

         24  for the respective bottlers.  I simply don't have

         25  that number.  I can see what I could do to get that
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          2  number for you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Would you?  I

          4  mean is there a number, does the industry --

          5                 MR. STEELE:  I'm not going to even

          6  put forth a number.  I'll be more than happy to get

          7  back --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  If you would

          9  let us know what that is, I'd appreciate it.

         10                 MR. STEELE:  Absolutely.  My

         11  pleasure.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Okay.  Mr.

         13  Sobol, you want to comment on that?

         14                 MR. STEELE:  I'd like to comment on

         15  it for two reasons.  Number one, the overall

         16  statement from Maine to Maryland is 70%.  The

         17  Federal Government, when the Moreland Commission

         18  convened, said the Moreland Commission didn't work

         19  because the beverage industry wasn't forthright. The

         20  other comment -- which means there was no figures.

         21  It's a make believe figure.  They could say it's

         22  this, they could say it's that.  In that statement I

         23  gave you there, we gave a full list of things that

         24  have to be done to straighten this bottle bill out.

         25  That's number one.
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          2                 And number two, understand who funds

          3  the bottle bill.  It's not the beverage industry,

          4  it's these gentlemen back here who have to pay

          5  deposits.  And besides paying deposits, they pay the

          6  refund out when the customer comes in.  Not the soft

          7  drink business and not the beer business.  The

          8  burden of the law is on us and we are the ones that

          9  should have the input of how this bill continues and

         10  how our environment is controlled.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Okay.  Thank

         12  you.  Mr. Salcedo?

         13                 MR. SALCEDO:   One very, very short

         14  comment, and this is regarding the big fines to be

         15  imposed for out of- state redemption.  Somebody made

         16  a comment before, if somebody comes to me with a

         17  bottle that says deposit Massachusetts, whatever,

         18  some of them have the 11 states on it, how do I

         19  figure out where that bottle was purchased? How do I

         20  figure out if that bottle was out of state besides

         21  the fact that I would have to individually look at

         22  each.  If somebody comes in with a bag, each one I

         23  will have to look to find out where this bottle was

         24  bought.  But I suppose that as long as the bottle

         25  says five cents deposit in New York, it wouldn't
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          2  matter if it was purchased in Jersey or in Europe,

          3  for that matter.   As long as the bottle says that,

          4  I have to pay a deposit in New York.  Now, how am I

          5  going to be penalized and how is it going to be

          6  proven that this bottle that I just paid five cents

          7  for was actually purchased in California?  Which is

          8  all part of how the degorment (sic), with all due

          9  respect to the elected officials, figure things out

         10  and makes them look so easy, but when you come to

         11  the practical point of implementing, it's a huge

         12  problem.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Okay.  Thank

         14  you very much, gentlemen, thank you for coming

         15  today.

         16                 Christine Datz- Romero from the Lower

         17  East Side Ecology Center, MaryEllen Etienne from the

         18  Reuse Alliance, Dr. Maggie Clarke, who we had to

         19  send out a special alarm to get her into the

         20  building, and Joan Levine from the Waste Prevention

         21  Coalition.

         22                 Please leave quietly and have the

         23  respect for the speakers coming who had it the same

         24  for you.  Thank you.

         25                 Why don't you begin.
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          2                 MS. TAI:  My name is Nicole Tai and

          3  I'm a member of the Reuse Alliance, one of the

          4  founding members. I'm here today to talk about reuse

          5  and give you a couple examples of some local

          6  initiatives that are going on.

          7                 The limit in resources, New York's

          8  reuse programs have had a positive impact, not only

          9  on our environment in terms of waste prevention but

         10  also in our communities.  From low income families

         11  and struggling non profits looking for access to

         12  affordable goods, to businesses looking to give back

         13  to their communities while improving their bottom

         14  line, New York's reuse programs have been a vital

         15  resource.  Though these programs divert thousands of

         16  tons each year, the scale of recovery needs to be

         17  considerably increased to have a substantial impact

         18  and effect on reducing New York City's cash burden.

         19                 Our reuse programs are a strong

         20  start. Working towards zero waste requires much more

         21  investment, though and, in order to do this, we need

         22  to develop and promote reuse.

         23                 Our members, alongside of the zero

         24  waste -- the people's plan for zero waste, have

         25  developed a set of strategies that, if included
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          2  within the City's upcoming 20 year solid waste

          3  management plan, will help address New York's needs

          4  for comprehensive reuse services.

          5                 These strategies include community

          6  resource complexes and reuse MRFS, sector- related

          7  job training and expanded online training, quality

          8  standards and labeling and capacity building support

          9  for the sector.

         10                 Implementing a 20- year plan

         11  incorporating initiatives such as these offers vast

         12  opportunities for waste prevention and job creation

         13  while shielding the City from the ever- increasing

         14  cost of export.

         15                 The Reuse Alliance asks the City

         16  Council to move towards zero waste while

         17  prioritizing reuse as an essential component of the

         18  City's waste management and economic development

         19  strategies.

         20                 I just wanted to give you an example

         21  of one of the initiative we've been working on.  I'm

         22  the manager of a program we call ReBuild It! New

         23  York City.  You probably remember me from ARROW, the

         24  reuse center that we ran in Long Island City, one of

         25  the WasteFree NYC projects.
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          2                 One of the industries I wanted to

          3  talk about today is deconstruction and building

          4  materials reuse.  Omar talked a little bit about

          5  deconstruction and what it involves and that it can

          6  create jobs and that it can divert waste, but I just

          7  wanted to give you some details about the industry

          8  and how it relates to building materials reuse as

          9  well.

         10                 Deconstruction can save New York City

         11  businesses and residents as much as 30 to 50%

         12  compared to traditional demolition costs, and reuse

         13  centers can save them also 30 to 70% when they go to

         14  buy building materials, instead of going to Home

         15  Depot or a store like that.  In addition, materials

         16  reused can remove a good portion of construction

         17  waste from DSNY's routes as well as commercial

         18  routes, reducing tonnage and, thus, this saves the

         19  City and businesses money on collection and export

         20  costs.  Coupled with effective recycling efforts,

         21  sites that were once demolished and sent to the

         22  landfill are now seeing up to 99% materials recovery

         23  rates.  That's including recycling. Depending on the

         24  type of building, some deconstruction efforts have

         25  yielded over 80% recovery for reuse alone.
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          2                 Building materials reuse centers are

          3  key to the success of deconstruction because they

          4  serve as the main outlet for the recovered

          5  materials.  The small building materials reuse

          6  center I ran was only 3,000 square feet and

          7  collection was usually only once a week, but we

          8  managed to divert over 84,000 pounds of building

          9  materials in just eight months.  If we had 60,000

         10  square feet building materials reuse centers in

         11  every borough with daily collection, we could divert

         12  approximately 10,000 tons of valuable building

         13  materials a year, or save approximately $2.5 million

         14  a year.  For example, these savings could be used to

         15  subsidize rent and a fleet of vehicles for these

         16  centers.

         17                 Right now we have a group called

         18  Community Environmental Center that we're working

         19  with and they've started a reuse center in the

         20  Brooklyn Navy Yard.  So they're on their way, but

         21  they really do need a more permanent space.  This

         22  space they're in is very temporary, so assistance

         23  from the City is what we're looking for or some

         24  angel out there.

         25                 Other outlets that need to be
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          2  developed to support deconstruction include

          3  remanufacturing and other reuse industries.

          4  Remanufacturing building materials takes on many

          5  forms, but the most well known is probably the

          6  reclaimed lumber industry, and the main product of

          7  this industry is high end flooring which is a very

          8  lucrative market right now.  But based on my

          9  research and a lot of other people's efforts, there

         10  doesn't seem to be any major remanufacturing efforts

         11  going on in New York and nothing in terms of

         12  flooring.  A couple guys that I saw that were doing

         13  it on the side, but nothing that was -- included a

         14  warehouse or manufacturing.

         15                 RBI is currently working with

         16  emerging reuse enterprises to develop the

         17  deconstruction and building materials reuse

         18  industry, however, support from the City is

         19  essential to create the infrastructure required to

         20  get these fledgling industries off the ground.

         21  Apart from recognition from the City as important to

         22  reaching zero waste, start- up funding and access to

         23  low cost or free space is what is needed to make it

         24  happen.

         25                 In return for the City's support,
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          2  these industries will create outlets for surplus and

          3  discarded building materials, access to affordable

          4  and environmentally friendly building materials and

          5  creation of jobs with liveable wages and, of course,

          6  will divert tonnage.

          7                 This is just one example of the many

          8  reuse industries that need to be developed here in

          9  New York City. The reuse sector has the potential to

         10  create 2,000 or more jobs, but we really need your

         11  support.  It is just one of the multiple pieces of

         12  the waste prevention pie that combine to create zero

         13  waste.

         14                 We ask for you to call for a vote on

         15  the zero waste resolution soon in order to have a

         16  positive influence on the City's 20- year solid

         17  waste management plan.  Thanks so much for your

         18  time.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Thank you.

         20                 DIRECTOR DATZ- ROMERO:  Good

         21  afternoon.  My name is Christine Datz- Romero, and

         22  I'm the Director of the Lower East Side Ecology

         23  Center.  This winter and fall I had the pleasure to

         24  working with some of my colleagues on the People's

         25  Plan for Zero Waste and I particularly worked on

                                                            129

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  recommendations about composting programs in New

          3  York City, and I would like to share some of them

          4  with you today.

          5                 According to the sanitation Waste

          6  Composition Analysis, organic materials such as

          7  leaves, grass clippings, wood and food waste make up

          8  a substantial 33% of New York City's waste stream,

          9  second only to paper as a single category.  Organic

         10  materials make up 38% of the residential waste

         11  stream and an estimated 30% in the commercial waste

         12  stream and food scraps account for up to 14% of the

         13  City's total waste stream.

         14                 Because of these substantial volumes,

         15  targeting the organic segment of the waste stream

         16  through expanded composting programs is critical to

         17  the success of any zero waste plan.  Additionally,

         18  effective organic composting programs are one of the

         19  key components of any recycling programs that

         20  exceeds a 40% recovery rate.

         21                 In New York City we had a few efforts

         22  to recover organic materials.  They have been

         23  limited to fall leaf collection and some onsite

         24  waste composting efforts at Rikers Island and an

         25  education and outreach program to promote composting
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          2  and distribution of subsidized backyard composting

          3  bins.

          4                 What I'd like to talk about today or

          5  outline some of our ideas an I would like to start

          6  with onsite organics recovery because that is, of

          7  course, avoids trucking and disposal fees in our

          8  waste management system. The first item here is

          9  residential grass clippings collection bans.

         10                 In 1992 the then Solid Waste

         11  Management Plan proposed a collection, grass

         12  clipping collection ban and basically it would save

         13  the City 8 million to $19 million annually if they

         14  would ban grass clippings which comprise about 2% of

         15  the residential solid waste stream, and it's

         16  estimated to be 35,000 tons per year that basically

         17  could stay on the lawn.  And if you do mulching of

         18  grass, it would actually benefit lawns and not add

         19  to our disposal burdens.

         20  Of course, together with doing a grass ban you also

         21  need to have an educational outreach program to

         22  educate people about that.

         23                 Another opportunity is residential

         24  backyard composting.  Close to one million

         25  households here in the City have access to, one way
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          2  or another to some backyards in the places where

          3  they live.  And that's a tremendous opportunity for

          4  doing residential backyard composting where people

          5  could recycle their or compost their yard waste

          6  together with their food waste.  There was a

          7  successful program that started in '99 through the

          8  Botanical Gardens where subsidized bins were

          9  distributed to households and we really call -- we'd

         10  like to see this program picked up again and to

         11  distribute backyard composting units to households

         12  in New York City.

         13                 Another opportunity is institutional

         14  onsite composting.  This program is to encourage

         15  onsite composting of food scraps and yard trimmings

         16  and grass mulchings by institutions through

         17  educational and demonstration projects and pilot

         18  projects with small to medium- scaled technologies.

         19  One example, again, with the outreach that the

         20  Botanical Gardens used to do was that NYCHA, the New

         21  York City Housing Authority, adopted a "Leave It On

         22  The Lawn Program" which is estimated saved the City

         23  $2 million a year in collection and waste disposal

         24  costs.

         25                 Lastly, for onsite, commercial onsite
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          2  composting.  For three years now, Sanitation has

          3  been working with EDC and the Hunts Point Food

          4  Distribution Center to develop onsite recovery

          5  systems at that complex. That's a tremendous

          6  opportunity because, as you know, some of the

          7  organic waste at the Hunts Point Food Market is

          8  managed through Sanitation.  And other large

          9  commercial generators of food waste that would

         10  benefit from onsite recovery of organics could

         11  include office complexes food courts, airports and

         12  wholesale food processors.  The City should provide

         13  technical and financial assistance to establish

         14  onsite systems where feasible.

         15                 So these are ideas for onsite

         16  composting which already would have a tremendous

         17  impact on the amount of waste that we would generate

         18  and export.

         19                 The next item I'd like to talk about

         20  is collection of yard waste, residential yard waste

         21  trimmings. At the time when leaf composting was

         22  suspended in 2002, it diverted approximately 20,000

         23  tons annually of leaves and the collection

         24  efficiency was increased from 4.8 tons per truck to

         25  7.2 tons per truck.  So we're happy to note that
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          2  Sanitation is going to resume leaf composting this

          3  fall but, additionally, we have some recommendations

          4  about really, I guess, creating permanent facilities

          5  for our yard composting here in the City.

          6                 There is a -- currently, we have

          7  three facilities.  One of them isn't even, doesn't

          8  even have a permit, and we need to get permanent

          9  facilities in place that can handle our yard waste

         10  and we need to really make an effort to make this

         11  happen.  We are suggesting to convene a task force

         12  with stakeholders and to really make an effort to

         13  ensure that these facilities will be there to handle

         14  the leaves that we can divert.  Of course, these

         15  facilities have to be properly managed.

         16                 Another recommendation we have is

         17  that collection should be either in loose or rigid

         18  containers or in compostable like paper bags to

         19  reduce litter at composting sites and to reduce

         20  processing costs.  It's estimated it could reduce

         21  processing costs by an estimated 50%.

         22                 Also, expand the leaf collection to

         23  areas in the City not previously served.  I think

         24  Manhattan has some trees and we haven't had any

         25  programs really that address leave collection here
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          2  in Manhattan.  I think we should try and make an

          3  effort to change that.

          4                 Also, we're calling for a pilot, a

          5  spring collection of yard debris, and lastly, to

          6  open the City compost sites to private landscapers

          7  to enable them to bring any sort of yard waste that

          8  they are generating from residential households to

          9  City- run facilities.

         10                 My last point will be to talk about

         11  centralized compost facilities.  We'll be calling

         12  upon the City to release an RFP in fiscal year '05

         13  for one or more composting facilities.  The facility

         14  should be designed to initially accept and process

         15  either source- separated materials or mixed solid

         16  waste materials which remain after waste prevention,

         17  reuse and recycling programs are implemented.

         18                 Source- separated organics for

         19  composting have clear advantages in terms of

         20  excellent compost quality and reduced processing

         21  costs.  However, with a diversified zero waste

         22  system of waste prevention, reuse and recycling,

         23  composting could be tried with a mixed waste stream,

         24  utilizing a system that pulls out non- organic

         25  materials prior to composting.  This would provide a
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          2  second chance to capture recyclables and to quickly

          3  see the success of other zero waste programs in

          4  diverting materials.  It would also result in

          5  essentially a hundred percent recovery of organics.

          6  For example, soiled paper, all of that could be

          7  composted in a system like that with no additional

          8  collection costs.  As zero waste programs are

          9  implemented, the waste stream delivered to

         10  composting facilities would become more pure,

         11  providing higher quality compost and lower

         12  processing costs over time.  As a matter of fact,

         13  Sanitation has done a pilot study about that with

         14  very positive results.  Mixed waste composting, they

         15  did this over the last two years.  They brought the

         16  waste to Westminster Compost Facility in Bedford and

         17  made class A compost out of mixed solid waste that

         18  we're producing right now.

         19                 Additionally, to address the

         20  challenge of siting any sort of compost facility,

         21  the City should provide City- owned land for initial

         22  facilities and select the technology that maximizes

         23  space efficiency and prevents odors.  Because most

         24  composting technology involve two stages, the

         25  initial and relatively short stabilization stage and
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          2  the longer curing period, the initial facility

          3  should also evaluate the feasibility of both onsite

          4  and offsite curing and storage facilities.

          5                 These were my comments about

          6  composting and, like my colleague Nicole, I would

          7  like to urge the City Council to pass a resolution

          8  about zero waste.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Thank you.  Ms.

         11  Levine.

         12                 MS. LEVINE:  Good afternoon.  My name

         13  is Joan Levine and I'm a member of the Waste

         14  Prevention Coalition and co- chair of the

         15  Morningside Heights/West Harlem Sanitation

         16  Coalition.  I'm here to testify in favor of

         17  Resolution 174, the zero waste resolution, and to

         18  talk specifically about the part of the resolution

         19  that talks about "our ability to dispose of waste in

         20  the future at reasonable rates is increasingly

         21  questionable".

         22                 Our organization is in the community

         23  that contains the 135th Street Marine Transfer

         24  Station.  Because of this unpleasant facility, we

         25  are acutely aware of the necessity of reducing the
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          2  burden of waste for our neighborhood and for the

          3  City as a whole.

          4                 Since the closing of Fresh Kills, the

          5  City no longer has facilities to dispose of our

          6  garbage.  Every bit of trash we make must be sold to

          7  a handful of multi- national trash companies.

          8  Because we are a captive audience, the cost has

          9  risen and will continue to rise.  The garbage

         10  industry has us by the throat.

         11                 As far as where to dispose of

         12  garbage, an antagonistic relationship exists between

         13  New York City and the states where we have sent or

         14  wish to send our trash. While the courts will not

         15  prevent the big garbage companies from hauling our

         16  garbage to their own private landfills in other

         17  states, the governments of these localities have

         18  tried their best to make these transfers difficult.

         19  As time goes on, this situation will undoubtedly get

         20  worse.

         21                 The very best solution is to have

         22  less trash. Other cities are finding ways to reduce

         23  what goes in residents' garbage cans.  Our great

         24  city should be able to do this, too.  It is in the

         25  best interest of my community of Morningside Heights
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          2  and West Harlem to have less waste.  That is why our

          3  organization supports the zero waste resolution.

          4                 DR. CLARKE:  Good afternoon.  I'm

          5  Marjorie Clarke, Ph.D.  As Vice- Chair of the New

          6  York City Waste Prevention Coalition, we had

          7  organized to give non overlapping testimony, a

          8  number of us, but we've been told that we can't do

          9  that.  I can't cover the other people's testimony,

         10  but I hope our written testimony can be considered.

         11  I'll depart from my statement for a second, since

         12  it's budget season, to give two recommendations of

         13  my own.  I hope that you do keep following up with

         14  the waste prevention coordinators as that is our

         15  best way to look into new pilot programs to be

         16  innovative and to start along the way to zero waste.

         17                 Secondly, this DSNY Sanitation

         18  Department is about to undertake a waste

         19  characterization study, the first in 15 years, and

         20  they have not got all the funds that they need to do

         21  what they want and we have been asking, I have been

         22  asking for 15 years that they do characterizations

         23  of product in the waste stream like the table as

         24  opposed to the chopped- up wood.  It's important to

         25  know what products you have in the waste stream so
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          2  you can design waste prevention programs.  And if

          3  you don't do that and they weren't planning to,

          4  because they don't have the money, then we're going

          5  to have to wait another 15 years to be able to

          6  properly design waste prevention programs.  So I

          7  hope you'll consider funding that and the durable

          8  study that we need.

          9                 With regard to the zero waste

         10  resolution, all three Boards that I'm involved with

         11  on the steering committee, Waste Prevention

         12  Coalition, the Manhattan SWAB and the CRAB are

         13  heartily in favor of the City setting itself

         14  meaningful long- term goals for solid waste

         15  prevention and management, and recommend that the

         16  City Council adopt a zero waste resolution as a

         17  first step along the road towards a time when the

         18  City no longer disposes of its products, packaging

         19  and materials but, instead, chooses to prevent,

         20  repair, reuse, recycle and compost them.  That's all

         21  that zero waste means.  A lot of people have a funny

         22  idea of what zero waste means.  It just means that

         23  we prevent, reuse, recycle and compost as much as

         24  possible towards everything.

         25                 You might at first think that zero
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          2  waste is folly, unachievable and to talk about it is

          3  a waste of time. But in the next few minutes, I hope

          4  to lay out a pretty straightforward road map to get

          5  us close to zero waste.

          6                 As you can see, the chart there is

          7  from our 15- year old waste characterization study.

          8  Most of those are recyclables and compostable

          9  categories.  There are very few that are product

         10  categories.  And you can see that those on the right

         11  side are currently being targeted.  There's about

         12  50% of the waste stream now that is being targeted

         13  for recycling as we speak.

         14                 Going to the next page, we need to,

         15  though, get to the next level.  If you look at the

         16  dark blue section, the recyclables collected, that's

         17  about 20% of the waste stream.  The orange section

         18  is what is not collected. It's targeted but it's not

         19  collected.  It's in the garbage and it's being

         20  exported as garbage.  We need to collect all of

         21  that.  And how do we do that?  That's the second

         22  step in the four- step process to get us towards

         23  zero waste.

         24                 The City diverts between 9% and 30%

         25  of its waste as recyclables in the different
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          2  neighborhoods despite targeting the 50, so not

          3  everyone is participating all the time.  My research

          4  at CUNY with about 50 students during this last

          5  term, has been trying to uncover what is needed to

          6  bring the capture rate from about 45%, which is the

          7  average now, to a hundred percent so that we can

          8  actually achieve a 50% recycling rate.  Since last

          9  fall, this research into the good and the poor

         10  recycling diversion neighborhoods with students have

         11  been pinpointing the differences.  I've just

         12  received 3,000 questionnaires and dozens of

         13  evaluations of street cleanliness from 50 students

         14  and a number of the findings are already apparent.

         15  Many more can be gleaned if only funding were

         16  available to support the analysis.  And that's a

         17  third area that I would urge you to consider some

         18  funding, to do analysis, so that we can start to

         19  pinpoint how to improve participation.

         20                 But first, in terms of these

         21  findings, many people in good and poor diversion

         22  rate neighborhoods are saying they forget to

         23  recycle.  They've indicated they would recycle more

         24  if given more reminders.  Some mention specifically

         25  more flyers.  Others mention TV and radio. Despite
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          2  the Department of Sanitation's issuance of recycling

          3  information in many languages, many people do not

          4  know what is recyclable and language appears to be a

          5  problem still.           Despite the City

          6  requirements for every residence to have a recycling

          7  area, many do not.  The locations of recycling areas

          8  are cited as being inconveniently located and this

          9  particularly true in the poor diversion

         10  neighborhoods, perhaps explaining why they're poor

         11  diversion neighborhoods.  Recycling areas in poor

         12  diversion neighborhoods are often cited as messy or

         13  unsafe, with too few recycling bins and overflowing

         14  bins.  DSNY actually requires in its regulations

         15  that recycling areas must be kept to certain

         16  standards even in apartment buildings, but they

         17  don't enforce their own regulations.

         18  We need to make sure that they do because

         19  participation depends on it.  Some say that they

         20  would recycle more if they had to pay for not

         21  recycling, that is for breaking the law.  Clearly

         22  they don't know that there's a law because it's not

         23  being enforced.  Some say that they would recycle

         24  more if recycling were offered on more days, and we

         25  have said for years that we need to have
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          2  substitution there.  As we move towards more

          3  recycling, we don't need to pick up garbage quite as

          4  often and that would save funding as well.

          5                 And finally, the level of litter on

          6  the streets and the frequency of seeing overflowing

          7  corner garbage cans has been correlated with

          8  recycling diversion rate.  That is, the worse that

          9  the streets are, the worse that the diversion rate

         10  is.  There seems to be a connection.

         11  Therefore, not only is it necessary for DSNY to

         12  substantially improve its educational programs in

         13  several different respects, my research also

         14  indicates that enforcement of residential recycling

         15  regs needs to be substantially expanded in all parts

         16  and in all housing types in the City and that street

         17  sweeping and public space collections need to be

         18  improved.  Though this wasn't a question in the

         19  survey, it's undoubtedly true that public space

         20  recycling, that is having container recycling bins

         21  next to all the corner garbage bins, would increase

         22  diversion rates for targeted recyclables.  DSNY

         23  clearly needs to do much more to make recycling

         24  mainstream in all areas of the City, and once these

         25  barriers to recycling are removed, participation
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          2  rates will increase.

          3                 Third, the next step towards zero

          4  waste is to target new materials for recycling.  And

          5  we've heard from Christine just a minute ago,

          6  organics are almost 25% of the waste stream,

          7  textiles are another 5%.  San Francisco has

          8  collected organics at curbside for some time.  We

          9  could learn a lot from them and save these valuable

         10  resources for our city parks and open spaces rather

         11  than paying for them to be disposed of as garbage.

         12                 Fourth, finally we add the panoply of

         13  waste prevention and reuse programs to target

         14  repairing durables, which are 15% of the waste

         15  stream on a national average, vocational training so

         16  that we can retrain future repairmen. We can

         17  establish reuse MRFS, which I'd love to tell you

         18  about when I have more time, where basically you can

         19  take durables off the street and get them repaired

         20  or refurbished or pillage the spare parts from them.

         21                 We establish repair facilities and

         22  then reducing the generation of non- durables via

         23  better design as well as passing environmental

         24  procurement bills which we have Intro. 29 and other

         25  things we've been pushing for about seven years,
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          2  product labeling legislation and so forth.

          3                 I mean, the zero waste plan will come

          4  out. It's going to be a hundred pages.  You will see

          5  in great detail all of these measures.  I hope that

          6  you will -- there will also be fact sheets so that

          7  you can look at it in short form.  I hope you'll

          8  familiarize yourself with it and support its

          9  inclusion in the City's comprehensive solid waste

         10  management plan because the City doesn't even have a

         11  plan for waste prevention and reuse at this point.

         12                 The bottle law, the MCSWAB, that is

         13  the Manhattan Solid Waste Advisory Board, supports

         14  the passage of the Bigger Better Bottle Bill as it

         15  already is responsible for taking a far higher

         16  percentage of glass, metal and plastic containers

         17  off the street and out of the waste stream than the

         18  curbside recycling program, while providing a living

         19  for scavengers.  The bill will also be a needed

         20  source of revenue for municipal waste prevention and

         21  recycling programs that require greater education

         22  and research to become more effective in reaching

         23  out to residents, as I was just describing.

         24                 To think that a billion dollars could

         25  have already gone to recycling programs over the
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          2  last 20 years. Can you imagine what that could have

          3  done for the upper end of the hierarchy?  We

          4  wouldn't even be talking about these things now.  If

          5  programs weren't so heavily constrained by lack of

          6  funding in the future, we can do the pilot programs,

          7  the research, the outreach and build the

          8  infrastructure necessary to have state- of- the- art

          9  recycling MRFS, reuse MRFS and research and

         10  implement pay as you throw equitable billing for

         11  garbage services.

         12                 Doubling the nickel deposit to a dime

         13  increases the incentive that has been shown to

         14  increase capture rates in other places where they've

         15  increased the deposit.  Targeting water, juice and

         16  spritzers will also increase the capture rate for

         17  targeted containers.  Should the State Legislature

         18  decide to target wine and alcohol bottles as well,

         19  the SWAB would concur as this removes more glass

         20  which has been problematic in the recycling program.

         21                 To conclude, please don't allow these

         22  two resolutions to die.  Do what you can and what

         23  you have to get these out onto the floor and voted

         24  upon as soon as possible.  A bright and progressive

         25  future for New York City's solid waste prevention
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          2  and management system is only possible if visionary

          3  goals are set and as we commit to move forthrightly

          4  towards them.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Thank you, Dr.

          6  Clarke, and thank you all for your very insightful

          7  testimony and your continued advocacy on behalf of

          8  all New Yorkers on this issue and reach out to all

          9  the Council members to push the waste prevention

         10  program.  I need your help.  Thanks.

         11                 Okay.  Mustafa Majeed of Hands On,

         12  Inc. And Manuela Arciniegas from the Sustainable

         13  South Bronx.  Thank you for your sticktoitness by

         14  waiting until the end.

         15  Go ahead, sir.  You've been here before.  Okay.  If

         16  you would just state your name.

         17                 MR. MAJEED:  My name is Mustafa

         18  Majeed and I'm the CEO for Harlem Fight Back and

         19  Hands On Coalition. I've been a fighter for the

         20  rights of blacks and Latino for the past 30 years.

         21  I've been in this room several times over the years

         22  fighting for everything as an activist fighting on

         23  all levels.

         24                 One thing that I haven't heard from

         25  anyone who came up here to speak.  They talked about
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          2  the resolution, of 714.  I agree with that zero

          3  waste.  But before we get to that, we know that the

          4  Bronx is suffering from unfair share of garbage

          5  coming up there.  We know that the diesel trucks

          6  that comes up into the Bronx every day, 14,000

          7  trucks every day, the diesel oil, the gas

          8  contributes to the ill and sickness of the residents

          9  in the Bronx.

         10                 For the past 40 years, there have

         11  been hundreds, probably maybe even thousands of

         12  infants and babies dying from the pollution and the

         13  filth that comes from all of the other boroughs to

         14  the Bronx.  All of the politicians who are supposed

         15  to be fighting this problem, why should you bring

         16  your waste and your poop into -- in our backyards

         17  and we have to suffer.  This has been going on for

         18  40 years.

         19                 Some of the politicians that I spoke

         20  to said they got nasty letters, they got threats.

         21  They say that it's the DEC, the State Department's

         22  fault, to correct this. They have not.  The City has

         23  not corrected it.  We have had different Mayors come

         24  about.  They haven't addressed this issue, and the

         25  deaths go on.
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          2                 Now you have waste management want --

          3  has requested to bring more garbage into the black

          4  and Latino community, the South Bronx.  It's not

          5  enough that they've already got hundreds and tons of

          6  garbage.  What we are -- what I'm asking for you

          7  gentlemen to do that -- I know that the State have a

          8  big responsibility to either accept or reject, but

          9  in the Constitution it says that "We hold these

         10  truths to be self- evident that all men are created

         11  equal." Why every time garbage or dumping or waste

         12  have to be always put into the black and Latino

         13  community?  And this is not only in New York City,

         14  this is throughout the whole United States in every

         15  major city. There's no coincidence that this is

         16  planned purposely to put the filth into these, into

         17  our communities.  And it's not ending.

         18                 Now we want to recycle.  You mean to

         19  tell me that plastic bottles and recycling is more

         20  important than black and Latino babies?  This

         21  project is going to take, as I spoke to the writer

         22  of this who was up here testifying, she said 20

         23  years.  Twenty years.  I'm 53 right now.  I'll be in

         24  my 70s.  And all of the leaders of the black and

         25  Latino community which should have been here raising

                                                            150

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  hell over the whole issue is not here.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Let me just if

          4  I could. The focus of this hearing, and there'll be

          5  a but here, but the focus of this hearing is not on

          6  the broader management of the City's trash in

          7  general.  We have had hearings on that in the past

          8  and we are working on it.  But I understand and

          9  appreciate your passion about this issue and I share

         10  it as well, having grown up on Staten Island, which

         11  for 50 years accepted all, all of the City's

         12  residential trash, at least for the last 15 years of

         13  its existence.  What you have in Bronx is a

         14  combination of the residential trash now coming to

         15  the waste management facility and all the commercial

         16  trash.

         17                 We are working very hard on this

         18  committee and we've been to these sites that you

         19  mentioned, as well as to the ones in Brooklyn and

         20  Queens, where there is clearly an injustice going on

         21  and we are trying very hard to pressure the

         22  Administration to come up with a solid waste

         23  management plan that includes residential and has

         24  the capacity for commercial waste and is fair to

         25  each borough. In fact, I put in legislation that
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          2  seeks to mandate borough self- sufficiency, so the

          3  Bronx is responsible for its, Staten Island for its,

          4  Manhattan for its and so forth and for the transfer.

          5    So we are working on that and I can use your help

          6  in doing that.  We will add your list to our -- your

          7  name to our mailing list so that you will know when

          8  these issues are coming up.

          9                 But we want to and we're now overtime

         10  here and I know you've been waiting long, if you

         11  just have comments specifically to the two

         12  resolutions before the Committee today, I would like

         13  to hear those.  Oh, and let me ask you another

         14  thing.  What Dr. Clarke was referring to is that the

         15  City's about to put together a plan to last for 20

         16  years, not to solve the problems in 20 years.  And

         17  so it would be very important to have your voice as

         18  we go through that process.

         19                 MR. MAJEED:  It sounds --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  And that will

         21  be done in the next year.  That plan will be

         22  drafted, heard on and resolved in the next year, and

         23  that will include the Marine Transfer Station which

         24  will take a lot of the trucks off the roads.  So we

         25  look forward to hearing your voice on those. But if
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          2  you want, we will notify you of all hearings in the

          3  future.  If you would just have any comments to this

          4  specific resolutions before the Committee today.

          5                 MR. MAJEED:  Well, the resolution, as

          6  I said before, I agree with it.  It's going to take

          7  a while, but the fact of it is that the 14,000

          8  trucks that's coming into the Bronx every day, how

          9  do you supposed to resolve that?

         10  Knowing that babies are dying, you'll say every day,

         11  you'll say from the pollution.  When is this going

         12  to stop?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Well, when the

         14  Marine Transfer Stations are in place, then the long

         15  haul trucks will not be needed anymore and so the

         16  local sanitation trucks will just drop their garbage

         17  at the Marine Transfer Station and then --

         18                 MR. MAJEED:  Five years, ten years,

         19  twenty years?  Just give me a rough --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  No, it's more

         21  like two to four years.  I will point out that two

         22  years ago the Mayor announced that it would be done

         23  now and it's not, so we're all for it.  We need your

         24  help in giving them next door a little hurry up and

         25  giddy- up.
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          2                 MR. MAJEED:  Well, I'm with you 100%.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  All right.  All

          4  right. Good.

          5                 MR. MAJEED:  Thank you, gentlemen.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Thank you, sir.

          7                 MR. MAJEED:  I appreciate it.

          8                 MR. PADILLA:   My name is Carlos

          9  Padilla with the South Bronx Clean Air coalition.

         10                 My concerns are this:  We always

         11  looked to do better and we get hung up on phrases

         12  like "every borough handle your own garbage".  Tell

         13  me exactly what that means.

         14  Okay.  Do we package our garbage, bury it in our

         15  community or do we package our garbage and send it

         16  to somebody else's community?

         17                 The recycling, will that act as a

         18  magnet or will there be regulations on how much of

         19  the waste industry can move in next door to be able

         20  to do this economically.

         21                 The economics of this has never been

         22  brought to the community in any sense where

         23  community individuals that are willing to come up

         24  with monies of their own to buy hybrids and try to

         25  be able to -- because there's going to be a self-
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          2  serving sort of industry with short haul in between

          3  facilities and distribution centers if it takes

          4  place.  One community will suffer massive impact

          5  while other community will suffer -- will receive

          6  benefits, and which is slightly unfair.  Okay.  And

          7  we basically know how the design generally plays

          8  itself out.

          9                 Will there be some concern, some

         10  oversight and regulations in this zero management

         11  plan that will allow for community investment

         12  towards environmentally green transportation and

         13  development for the reduction, not only of zero

         14  waste, but zero impact to go hand in hand with this?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Well, zero

         16  waste is a proposal that seeks to really reduce the

         17  amount of garbage, which is a good thing for

         18  everybody because it costs the City less money, it

         19  has less of an impact in neighborhoods because

         20  there's less of it.

         21                 The idea, though, that this

         22  resolution puts forth today is that in the document

         23  that the Council and the Mayor are now working on to

         24  lay out our strategy for the next 20 years, that we

         25  adopt the idea that we're serious about reducing,
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          2  reusing, recycling, repairing all of the things that

          3  end up in the waste stream.  That's why composting

          4  and all those things are important.  So those are

          5  important in the broad scope, but the plan that

          6  includes the transportation of our garbage out of

          7  the City, that's the impact that Mr. Majeed was

          8  talking about that so adversely affects his

          9  neighborhood.

         10                 We are working very hard to pressure

         11  the Administration to hurry up to get the MTS plan

         12  online which would use barges and, you know --

         13  barges which --

         14                 MR. PADILLA:   Oh, I agree that you

         15  have to use the barges.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Okay.

         17                 MR. PADILLA:   I agree you've got to

         18  open up all your marine transfer stations.  It is

         19  crazy not to.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Okay.  But you

         21  should also be for then -- given your perspective, I

         22  feel confident in counseling you that you should

         23  also be comfortable with the zero waste proposal

         24  because that helps everybody.  It helps reduce the

         25  amount of garbage, so it makes life better for
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          2  everybody.

          3                 MR. PADILLA:   Generally, my history

          4  involved in the waste movement, it goes back 15

          5  years, from the medical waste incinerator right on

          6  here.   And I have seen that when they did the

          7  offsets, where they put larger permits under one

          8  roof, they did offset.  They offset it from here and

          9  they put it here, meaning that there's the relief in

         10  this area and this community now is going to suffer

         11  a greater impact.  Okay.  Because they're going to

         12  now have truck trips that they didn't have before.

         13  So this is one of my concerns is the planning on how

         14  we do some of these things.  Sometimes we get caught

         15  up in the beauty of the idea and we forget about the

         16  impact.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  We're working

         18  very hard on that and we appreciate your comments.

         19                 MR. PADILLA:   Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Thank you.

         21                 MS. STONE:  Hi.  My name is Shannon

         22  Stone. I'm speaking today on behalf of Manuela from

         23  the Sustainable South Bronx.  She had to leave

         24  early.  But she gave me her testimony to read.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Did she
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          2  register? Because --

          3                 MS. STONE:  Yes.  You called her

          4  name.  Yes. Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  If you could

          6  just summarize it.  Thank you.

          7                 MS. STONE:  Okay.  Well, basically

          8  Manuela is from the Sustainable South Bronx, which

          9  is located in the Hunts Point section of the South

         10  Bronx, which is an environmental justice community

         11  which means that the neighborhood bears a grossly

         12  disproportionate burden of toxic and polluting

         13  facilities.  Currently there are 14 private land-

         14  based transfer stations.  It's handling 40% of the

         15  City's putrescible solid waste and 16% of waste from

         16  construction demolition.

         17                 It says we are low income people of

         18  color and we recognize that this is why these

         19  transfer stations are located in our neighborhoods.

         20  We suffer the effects of these in our health.

         21  Asthma rates are amongst the highest in the nation

         22  and our quality of life.

         23                 The clustering of transfer stations

         24  magnifies the impact of the odors, vermin, fumes and

         25  filth associated with them.  After the garbage
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          2  leaves our neighborhood, it travels to other low

          3  income communities of color to be incinerated or

          4  placed in a landfill.  Even though garbage hurts low

          5  income communities of color inside and outside of

          6  NYC more than others, we are all negatively

          7  impacted, environmentally and economically by the

          8  creation and handling of New York City's 45,000 tons

          9  per day of garbage.

         10                 The resolution states "The placement

         11  of materials in waste disposal facilities such as

         12  landfills and incinerators causes damage to human

         13  health, wastes natural resources and wrongly

         14  transfers liabilities to future generations."

         15            Not only our liability is wrongly

         16  transferred to future generations, they are wrongly

         17  transferred to populations that do not create the

         18  waste, as in our case and throughout the entire

         19  eastern United States where our garbage winds up.

         20  Even when garbage reaches its final resting place,

         21  its impacts do not stay localized.  In the landfill

         22  garbage does not break down.  It sits preserved for

         23  centuries or millennia.  And because over 85% of the

         24  nation's landfills are not lined, highly toxic

         25  liquids seep into the soil and ground water,
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          2  irreversibly destroying our environment and coming

          3  back to haunt us with devastating health

          4  consequences.  To avoid shifting this mounting

          5  problem onto other people in the short term and back

          6  onto us in future generations in the long term, we

          7  must move aggressively towards zero waste.

          8                 We are not helpless.  This is the

          9  year that decisions determining the handling of

         10  garbage for the next 20 years will be made through

         11  the Solid Waste Management Plan.  Previous

         12  decisions, like that to close the Fresh Kills

         13  landfill, yielded very specific consequences on the

         14  health and wellbeing of the City.  Now our choice is

         15  not based on lose- lose situations.  This is what is

         16  so exciting and indisputable about the prospect of

         17  zero waste.  We can change the question from what

         18  will we have to deal with to can we quantify all of

         19  the benefits.

         20                 Follow the lead of other cities like

         21  San Francisco, and frame the planning process for

         22  the next 20 years by affirming your commitment to

         23  create zero waste. Please put the zero waste

         24  resolution on the floor by June 28th and pass it.

         25                 We're also in favor of the Bigger

                                                            160

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  Better Bottle Bill as it may provide up to 75

          3  million a year for zero waste activities in New York

          4  City.  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON:  Thank you very

          6  much. Well done and well stated.  There being no

          7  other testimony, I hereby close this hearing of the

          8  New York City Council Committee on Sanitation and

          9  Solid Waste Management.

         10                 I thank the Counsel to the Committee,

         11  Carmen Cognetta, and the co- counsel, assistant

         12  counsel and New York City expert on public housing,

         13  Andrew Sterrer, and our Sergeant- of- Arms and

         14  everybody in the crowd.  Thank you.

         15                 (Hearing concluded at 4:15 p.m.)
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